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ITEM 2. ACQUISITION OR DISPOSITION OF ASSETS  
   
As previously reported on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2004, CACI International Inc, a Delaware 
corporation (“CACI” or the “Company”) announced on May 3, 2004 that its wholly owned subsidiary, CACI Enterprise Solutions, Inc., 
previously named Dagger Acquisition Corporation, had completed the purchase of the Defense and Intelligence Group (“D&IG”) and related 
assets of American Management Systems, Incorporated. This form 8-K/A is being filed to report the financial statements pursuant to Item 7 
below.  
   
ITEM 5. OTHER EVENTS AND REGULATION FD DISCLOSURE  
   
On May 3, 2004, CACI International Inc announced that its wholly-owned subsidiary, CACI Enterprise Solutions, had completed the purchase 
of the Defense and Intelligence Group and related assets of American Management Systems, Incorporated (“AMS”).  
   
A copy of the Registrant’s press release regarding CACI’s completion of its acquisition of AMS’s Defense and Intelligence Group and increase 
in guidance for the remainder of fiscal year 2004 is attached as Exhibit 99 to this current report on Form 8-K.  
   
ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS  
   
(a) In accordance with Item 7 (a)(4) of Form 8-K, the Audited Financial Statements for the Defense and Intelligence Group as of December 31, 
2003 and 2002 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 and the related Report of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm thereon, and the Unaudited Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2004 and the Unaudited Statements of Operations and Cash Flows 
for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 are being filed as part of this Form 8-K/A beginning on page 3.  
   
(b) In accordance with item (7)(b)(2) of Form 8-K, and because it was impracticable to provide the required pro-forma financial information 
relative to the acquired business at the time of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 14, 2004 was filed, the Unaudited Pro 
Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations, Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, and Notes to 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are being filed as part of this Form 8-K/A beginning on page 19.  
   

EXHIBITS  
   

Exhibit No.  
   

Document  

23.1    Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

99    
   

Press release dated May 3, 2004, announcing the Registrant’s intent to complete its purchase of the Defense and 
Intelligence Group of American Management Systems, Incorporated and increased guidance for fiscal year 2004. 

99.4 

   

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2004, by and among CACI International Inc, CACI, INC.-
FEDERAL, Dagger Acquisition Corporation, American Management Systems, Incorporated, CGI Group Inc. and 
CGI Virginia Corporation 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   
To the Board of Directors  
CACI International Inc  
   

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Defense and Intelligence Group of American Management Systems, 
Inc. (“D&IG”) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, group’s equity, and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the D&IG’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
   

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Defense and Intelligence Group of American Management Systems, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated 
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.  
   

/s/    Ernst & Young LLP  
   
McLean, Virginia  
   
July 1, 2004  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(amounts in thousands)  
   

   
See accompanying notes.  
   

3  

          (unaudited)   

     

Year ended  
December 31,  

   

Three months ended  
March 31,  

  

     

2003  
    

2002  
    

2001  
   

2004  
    

2003  
  

Revenue     $ 249,603     $ 205,335     $ 196,636    $ 69,963     $ 54,745   
Costs and expenses                                          

Direct costs       127,656       97,947       91,775      34,867       25,949   
Indirect costs and selling expenses       125,948       101,694       99,776      35,899       28,692   
Depreciation and amortization       5,854       3,802       2,417      1,839       1,736   

              

Total costs and expenses       259,458       203,443       193,968      72,605       56,377   
              

Operating (loss) income       (9,855 )     1,892       2,668      (2,642 )     (1,632 ) 
Interest expense, net       360       50       793      83       60   
              

(Loss) income before income taxes       (10,215 )     1,842       1,875      (2,725 )     (1,692 ) 
Income tax (benefit) expense       (3,889 )     (1,479 )     744      (921 )     (638 ) 
              

Net (loss) income     $ (6,326 )   $ 3,321     $ 1,131    $ (1,804 )   $ (1,054 ) 
              



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(amounts in thousands)  
   

   
See accompanying notes.  
   

4  

     

December 31,  
   (unaudited) 

     

2003  
   

2002  
   

March 31, 2004 

 

ASSETS                       

Current assets                       

Accounts receivable                       

Billed (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,729, $2,469 and $2,226)     $ 54,309    $ 35,085    $ 50,300 
Unbilled       16,846      12,718      35,624 

           

Total accounts receivable       71,155      47,803      85,924 
Deferred income taxes       9,253      747      12,738 
Prepaid expenses and other       10,243      4,051      4,543 

           

Total current assets       90,651      52,601      103,205 

Property and equipment, net       5,820      5,453      5,654 
Developed computer software, net       21,028      10,406      23,467 
Other assets       7,892      9,682      912 
Other intangible assets, net       13,518      —        13,251 
Deferred income taxes       —        1,549      —   
Goodwill       26,720      —        26,892 
           

Total assets     $ 165,629    $ 79,691    $ 173,381 
           

LIABILITIES AND GROUP’S EQUITY                       

Current liabilities                       

Accounts payable     $ 7,697    $ 2,917    $ 7,014 
Other accrued expenses       12,146      4,536      7,231 
Accrued compensation and benefits       21,746      16,960      16,774 

           

Total current liabilities       41,589      24,413      31,019 

Deferred income taxes       9,237      —        11,801 
Other long-term obligations       5,359      8,213      2,379 
           

Total liabilities       56,185      32,626      45,199 
Commitments and contingencies                       

(see Note 8)                       

Group’s equity       109,444      47,065      128,182 
           

Total liabilities and group’s equity     $ 165,629    $ 79,691    $ 173,381 
           



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(amounts in thousands)  
   

   
See accompanying notes.  
   

5  

                       (unaudited)   

     

Year ended  
December 31,  

    

Three months ended  
March 31,  

  

     

2003  
    

2002  
    

2001  
    

2004  
    

2003  
  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES                                           

Net (loss) income     $ (6,326 )   $ 3,321     $ 1,131     $ (1,804 )   $ (1,054 ) 
Reconciliation of net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by 

operating activities                                           

Depreciation       2,526       2,695       2,417       404       1,151   
Amortization       3,328       1,107       —         1,435       585   
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance       (365 )     (44 )     (84 )     —         (105 ) 
Loss on disposal of assets       66       15       245       —         —     
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision       (2,405 )     1,247       (8,606 )     (921 )     5,231   
Software asset impairment       3,175       —         —         —         —     
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:                                           

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable       (10,281 )     (5,643 )     11,218       (14,769 )     (7,185 ) 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets       (5,691 )     4,121       (1,383 )     5,700       (1,261 ) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payables and accrued 

expenses       6,396       3,678       428       (5,599 )     (869 ) 
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation and benefits       (2,640 )     5,212       (6,000 )     (4,971 )     (6,008 ) 
(Decrease) increase in income taxes payable       645       (3,358 )     3,358       —         —     
(Decrease) increase in other long-term obligations       (2,938 )     (1,481 )     822       (2,980 )     4,008   

             

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities       (14,510 )     10,870       3,546       (23,505 )     (5,507 ) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES                                           

Capital expenditures       (2,209 )     (1,701 )     (3,232 )     (238 )     (1,110 ) 
Development of software       (11,678 )     (6,653 )     (4,479 )     (3,608 )     (1,716 ) 
Other assets       3,074       (1,519 )     4,387       6,809       985   
Purchase of R.M. Vredenburg & Co., net of cash acquired       (40,890 )     —         —         —         —     
             

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities       (51,703 )     (9,873 )     (3,324 )     2,963       (1,841 ) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES                                           

Payments of R.M. Vredenburg & Co. debt acquired       (2,492 )     —         —         —         —     
Group equity contributions (distributions), net       68,705       (997 )     (222 )     20,542       7,348   
             

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities       66,213       (997 )     (222 )     20,542       7,348   
             

Net change in cash and equivalents     $ —       $ —       $ —       $ —       $ —     
             



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF GROUP’S EQUITY  

(amounts in thousands)  
   

   
See accompanying notes.  
   

6  

           (unaudited)   

     

Year Ended  
December 31,  

    

Three Months Ended 
March 31,  

  

     

2003  
    

2002  
    

2001  
    

2004  
  

Group’s equity, beginning of period     $ 47,065     $ 44,741     $ 43,832     $ 109,444   
Net (loss) income       (6,326 )     3,321       1,131       (1,804 ) 
Group’s equity contributions (distributions), net       68,705       (997 )     (222 )     20,542   
           

Group’s equity, end of period     $ 109,444     $ 47,065     $ 44,741     $ 128,182   
           



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
NOTE 1 – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOU NTING POLICIES  
   
Basis of Presentation  
   
American Management Systems, Inc. (“AMS”) was incorporated in February 1970 to provide IT consulting to government, financial services 
and communications industries. The Defense and Intelligence Group (“D&IG”) of AMS provided defense and intelligence agencies of the U.S. 
Federal Government with business management solutions including information technology and design in support of acquisition, financial 
management, engineering services and logistics, warfighting and intelligence missions.  
   
On March 10, 2004 AMS announced its approval of an Agreement and Plan of Merger with CGI Group, Inc. and CGI Virginia Corporation 
which provided for a tender offer to purchase all the issued and outstanding shares of common stock and a merger of CGI Virginia Corporation 
into AMS. AMS also announced its approval of an Asset Purchase Agreement with CACI International Inc, CACI, INC. – FEDERAL, CACI 
Enterprise Solutions, Inc. and CGI Group, Inc. for the acquisition by CACI Enterprise Solutions, Inc. of certain assets and the assignment of 
certain liabilities associated with the D&IG immediately upon the satisfaction of the conditions to the tender offer. On May 1, 2004 CACI 
Enterprise Solutions, Inc. completed the purchase of the D&IG for $415 million in cash. The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
present the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the D&IG.  
   
AMS did not report separate financial statements for the D&IG nor maintain its financial records to capture assets, liabilities and indirect costs 
for the D&IG. Since the D&IG could not be reported on as a separate business unit for financial statement purposes, certain allocations of assets, 
liabilities and costs were allocated to the D&IG that management believes are equitable and provide a reasonable estimate of the costs attributed 
to the D&IG. The following is a brief summary of the allocation methodology for significant financial statement captions:  
   
Statements of Operations  
   
Revenue and direct costs were specifically identified by contracts associated with the D&IG. Indirect costs were allocated based upon indirect 
rates calculated in accordance with the AMS’ costs disclosure statement. These allocations were then adjusted for specific one-time charges that 
did not relate to the D&IG business such as contract litigation costs or asset write-downs. Income taxes were calculated as if the D&IG were a 
stand alone taxable entity during the periods presented.  
   
Balance Sheets  
   
Billed and unbilled accounts receivable were specifically identified based on the contracts associated with the D&IG.  
   
Certain prepaids and other assets were specifically identified such as software licenses. Other assets purchased on behalf of AMS such as 
insurance policies were allocated using an income statement percentage approach, i.e. comparing the D&IG’s revenue or expense to AMS’ total 
revenue or expense, as appropriate.  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
Property and equipment was specifically identified based on locations in which the D&IG employees work. Other fixed assets were allocated 
using an income statement percentage approach.  
   
Accounts payable and accrued expenses were determined primarily using an income statement percentage approach based on cost relationships. 
Certain material accrued expenses that could be specifically identified such as deferred maintenance revenue were also recorded to the D&IG 
balance sheet.  
   
Interim Results  
   
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2004 and for the three months ended March 31, 2004 
and 2003, have been prepared pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. In the opinion of management, the 
accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements reflect all necessary adjustments and reclassifications (all of which are a 
normal, recurring nature) that are necessary for fair presentation for the periods presented. It is suggested that these unaudited consolidated 
financial statements be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements included herein. The current period’s results of 
operations are not necessarily indicative of results that may be achieved for any future period.  
   
A. Principles of Consolidation  
   
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the D&IG and an allocation of the accounts of R.M. Vredenburg & Co. 
(“Vredenburg”) based on contracts acquired by CACI. Vredenburg was a wholly-owned subsidiary of AMS that was acquired in August 2003 
(see Note 2). All significant intragroup and intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  
   
B. Revenue Recognition  
   
Revenue on time-and-materials contracts was recognized to the extent of billable rates times hours delivered plus expenses incurred. Revenue on 
cost-reimbursable contracts was recognized to the extent of costs incurred plus either a proportionate amount of the fee earned or the entire 
amount of the fee awarded. For fixed-price contracts, where the D&IG has the ability to produce reasonably dependable estimates regarding 
revenue and costs, revenue was recognized using the percentage-of-completion basis of accounting based on the percentage of costs incurred in 
relation to total estimated costs to be incurred. The estimates utilized on these contracts were continually updated during the terms of the 
contracts and may have resulted in the revision of recognized revenue and estimated costs in the period in which they were identified.  
   
Large systems integration projects are generally either fixed-price or time-and-materials contracts that are structured in phases (design, 
development and implementation) for delivery and contract management purposes. These long-term production-type contracts generally include 
the delivery of software, integration and customization services, training and maintenance. In accordance with the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants’ Statement of Position No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2”), when these software licenses require 
significant production, modification, or customization, the entire arrangement is accounted for in accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin 
No. 45, Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts, using the relevant guidance in SOP No. 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-
Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts (“SOP 81-1”). Because the arrangements are accounted for under SOP 81-1, the entire contract 
values are recognized as revenue using the percentage-of-completion basis of accounting.  
   
Typically, the D&IG bundled software licenses with services. When no significant production, modification or customization of the software 
was required, the D&IG allocated a portion of the contract value to each element of the contract based on its relative vendor specific objective 
evidence of fair value (“VSOE”). Generally the D&IG was able to establish VSOE for all elements of the arrangement and bifurcate the contract 
value accordingly. In these circumstances, revenue was recognized on each element separately. Revenue on software license fees was recognized 
when a non-cancelable license agreement was in force, the software was delivered, the license fee was fixed or determinable, and collection was 
deemed probable. In certain circumstances, the D&IG was not able to establish  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
VSOE for the software. In these situations, once the software was delivered and the only undelivered element was services, the entire contract 
value was recognized over the service period. The D&IG was unable to establish VSOE for software it sells as part of a multiple-element 
arrangement when the software product had not yet been sold separately and a standard price list was not established. In such circumstances, 
when VSOE was established for the undelivered elements in the arrangement (which generally consist of maintenance, training, data conversion 
or other services), the D&IG used the residual method, in accordance with SOP 97-2, to determine the value of the software to recognize. When 
VSOE could not be established for the undelivered services, the entire contract value was recognized over the same period.  
   
The D&IG also entered into contracts with customers that did not include the sale or integration of software. These contracts included services 
such as general consulting or training and were typically performed on a time-and-materials or cost-reimbursable basis. When such contracts 
were performed on a fixed-price basis, the D&IG recognized revenue as earned in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, 
Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements (“SAB 101”), as services were performed and were contractually billable. The D&IG records 
revenue for award fees related to contracts recognized under SAB 101 upon notification from the customer that the fee has been awarded.  
   
Maintenance and product support agreements generally provide for minor programming corrections, new releases and help-desk support. The 
terms of these agreements may vary with each customer but maintenance and product support are typically sold for a twelve-month period with 
renewals occurring annually based on renewal rates stated in the original contract. The D&IG generally invoices and requires the customer to 
pay in advance of the maintenance period. Prepaid maintenance was deferred and recognized ratably over the maintenance period.  
   
Losses on contracts, if any, were recognized during the period in which the loss first became probable and reasonably estimable. Any projected 
loss recognized was based on the D&IG’s best estimates of a contract’s revenue and costs. Any contract losses recognized were periodically 
reviewed for accuracy as total revenue and total cost to complete estimates were updated during the term of the contract.  
   
Revenue recognized in excess of billings was recorded as unbilled accounts receivable. Cash collections in excess of revenue recognized were 
recorded as deferred revenue until the revenue recognition criteria were met. Substantially all of the revenue and related accounts receivable of 
the D&IG is generated from agencies and departments of the U.S. Federal Government. Reimbursements, including those relating to travel, other 
out-of-pocket expenses, and any third-party costs, were included in revenue, and an equivalent amount of reimbursable expenses were included 
in direct costs. The D&IG regularly assesses the billed and unbilled balances and records an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to the amount 
estimated to be not collectible.  
   
The costs associated with cost-type federal government contracts are subject to audit and adjustment by the U.S. Government. In the opinion of 
the D&IG management, no significant adjustments or disallowances of costs are anticipated beyond any such amounts provided for in the 
consolidated financial statements.  
   
C. Developed Computer Software  
   
The D&IG developed proprietary software products which were then licensed to customers either as stand-alone applications or as elements of 
custom-built systems. The D&IG capitalized the costs incurred for development of software for external sale after technological feasibility had 
been established in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer 
Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed (“SFAS 86”). Costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility were 
charged to research and development expense. When the software was ready for general release to customers, capitalization ceased and such 
costs were amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic life, which was generally three to five years.  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
In accordance with SFAS 86, on a quarterly basis the D&IG performed net realizable value (“NRV”) analyses on each capitalized software 
product to ensure that the value of the product meets or exceeds the expected total amount to be capitalized on the development as well as to 
evaluate the economic life of the product. The NRV analyses consider the expected future sales pipeline and revenue projections associated with 
the products. When updating the NRV analyses, if the D&IG noted a change in the expected revenue stream demonstrating declining revenue 
trends, the D&IG either accelerated the amortization or wrote-off the unamortized software development costs that exceeded the expected NRV.  
   
Product development for the years ended December 31, was as follows:  
   

   
The D&IG acquired $2,762 of developed computer software during August 2003 as a result of the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding 
common stock of Vredenburg (see Note 2).  
   
The D&IG recorded total amortization expense on developed computer software of $2,884 in 2003, $1,107 in 2002, and $0 in 2001. 
Unamortized costs of developed software were $21,028 and $10,406 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  
   
D. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  
   

     

2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  

Capitalized     $ 11,678    $ 6,653    $ 4,479 
Expensed       694      2,394      1,469 
Acquired       2,762      —        —   
           
     $ 15,134    $ 9,047    $ 5,948 
           

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the D&IG recognizes an impairment loss 
when circumstances indicate that the carrying value of long-lived tangible and intangible assets with finite lives may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of long-lived assets is assessed by a comparison of the carrying amount to the estimated future net cash flows. If estimated future 
undiscounted net cash flows are less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and expense is recorded at an amount required to 
reduce the carrying amount to fair value. Long-lived tangible and intangible assets primarily include property and equipment, developed 
computer software, and intangible customer relationships associated with Vredenburg. The D&IG recorded software asset impairments of $3,175 
in 2003 for the write-off of certain non-performing software assets that were no longer expected to provide future value, which is included in 
indirect costs and selling expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.  
   
E. Stock-Based Compensation  
   
Some of the D&IG’s employees participated in various equity compensation plans sponsored by AMS. AMS’  plans authorize grants of stock 
options and restricted stock with respect to AMS’ common stock.  
   
The D&IG elected to account for its participation in AMS’ stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method under Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and to disclose pro forma effects on net (loss) income as provided 
by the provisions of SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure and Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS 123”). Accordingly, no compensation cost for stock options 
held by employees of the D&IG has been recognized. Had compensation cost for stock options been determined based on the fair value at the 
grant dates in 2003, 2002, and 2001 consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123, the pro forma net (loss) income would have been as follows:  
   

   
10  

                    (unaudited)   

    

Year Ended  
December 31,  

   

Three Months Ended  
March 31,  

  

    

2003  
    

2002  
   

2001  
   

2004  
    

2003  
  

Net (loss) income, as reported    $ (6,326 )   $ 3,321    $ 1,131    $ (1,804 )   $ (1,054 ) 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value 

based method for all stock option awards, net of related tax effects      985       1,348      914      733       274   
              

Pro forma net (loss) income    $ (7,311 )   $ 1,973    $ 217    $ (2,537 )   $ (1,328 ) 
              



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
For 2003, 2002, and 2001 disclosure purposes, the fair value of each stock option granted was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. For March 31, 2004 disclosure purposes, the fair value of each stock option granted was determined by measuring 
the value of compensation to the employee which was based on the difference between the stock price at the grant date and the purchase price of 
AMS stock at $19.40 per share by CGI Group, Inc. These options would be amortized on a pro-forma basis based on the vesting schedule 
specified in the option agreement. The fair value of the options granted for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 were $6.74, 
$11.22, and $9.74, respectively. The fair value of the D&IG’s participation in AMS’ stock-based option awards to employees was estimated 
assuming no expected dividends and the following weighted-average assumptions:  
   

   
F. Income Taxes  
   

     

Year Ended December 31,  
  

     

2003 

    

2002 

    

2001 

  

Risk-free interest rate     3.0 %   4.0 %   5.0 % 
Expected life (years)     5     5     6   
Expected volatility     66.0 %   66.7 %   57.4 % 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities were determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
using enacted tax rates for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.  
   
Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences in recognizing certain income, expense, and credit items for financial reporting 
purposes and tax reporting purposes. Such deferred income taxes primarily relate to the methods of accounting for revenue, capitalized software 
development costs and restricted stock. A valuation allowance is recorded if it is “more likely than not” that some portion or all of a deferred tax 
asset will not be realized.  
   
G. Use of Estimates  
   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses reported during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
NOTE 2 – ACQUISITIONS  
   
Vredenburg  
   
On August 1, 2003, AMS acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Vredenburg, a provider of professional and technical services to 
the Department of Defense and U.S. Intelligence communities. The results of operations of Vredenburg have been allocated to the consolidated 
financial statements since August 1, 2003, the acquisition date. The acquisition adds critical infrastructure protection capabilities, sophisticated 
document management technologies, and new program management expertise to AMS’ offerings in financial management, acquisition and 
procurement, business intelligence, enterprise architecture, and technology consulting.  
   
The aggregate purchase price paid by AMS, net of $585 in cash acquired, was $46,939 and included cash payments through December 31, 2003 
of $42,939. Amounts remaining to be paid by AMS at December 31, 2003 consisted of $4,000 of payments related to earn-out targets for which 
all contingencies were resolved and full payment was made on January 30, 2004.  
   
The purchase price allocation has been prepared on a preliminary basis by AMS, and reasonable changes are expected as additional information 
becomes available. The estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the acquisition have been allocated to the 
D&IG based on the 2003 Vredenburg revenue acquired by CACI as a percentage of total 2003 Vredenburg revenue, and are allocated as follows: 
   

   
The developed computer software assets have estimated useful lives of five years. The D&IG’s allocation of other intangible assets consist of 
customer relationships of $13,518, net of accumulated amortization of $444 at December 31, 2003. Customer relationships have a weighted 
average useful life of 14 years. Other intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from 10 to 15 years 
based on their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2003 was $444 and $266 for the 
quarter ended March 31, 2004. Future amortization expense related to other intangible assets is expected to be $1,065 in each of the years ending 
December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.  
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Accounts receivable     $ 13,071   
Other current assets, net of cash acquired       3,727   
Other noncurrent assets       4,267   
Developed computer software       2,762   
Other intangible assets       13,962   
Goodwill       26,720   
     

Allocation of assets acquired       64,509   

Short-term debt       (1,015 ) 
Accounts payable and other current liabilities       (12,291 ) 
Long-term debt       (1,477 ) 
Other noncurrent liabilities       (5,088 ) 
     

Allocation of liabilities assumed       (19,871 ) 
     

Allocation of net assets acquired     $ 44,638   
     



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
The D&IG results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 include the operating results of this acquisition from August 1, 2003 
through December 31, 2003. The following unaudited pro forma condensed financial information is based on the historical financial statements 
of the D&IG and Vredenburg adjusted to give effect to the Vredenburg acquisition as if it had occurred on the beginning of each period 
presented.  
   

   
NOTE 3 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
   

     

Years ended December 31,  

     

2003  
    

2002  

Pro Forma:                 

Revenue     $ 285,295     $ 255,944 
Net (loss) income     $ (3,281 )   $ 5,863 

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciation of equipment has been provided over the estimated useful life of the respective assets 
(ranging from three to ten years) using the straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are generally amortized using the straight-line method 
over the remaining lease term or the useful life of the improvements, whichever is shorter. Costs for maintenance and repairs are charged to 
expense when incurred. Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31:  
   

   
Depreciation and leasehold amortization expense was $2,526 in 2003, $2,695 in 2002 and $2,417 in 2001.  
   
NOTE 4 – OTHER ASSETS  
   

     

2003  
    

2002  
  

Equipment and furniture     $ 10,247     $ 9,066   
Leasehold improvements       3,592       3,388   
Allocated property and equipment       6,396       4,971   
       
       20,235       17,425   
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization       (14,415 )     (11,972 ) 
       

Total property and equipment, net     $ 5,820     $ 5,453   
       

At December 31, 2003 other assets consisted of $7,186 for an allocation of company-owned life insurance and $706 of other deferred fees, 
accrued long-term interest, and notes receivable. At December 31, 2002, other assets consisted of $9,019 for an allocation of company-owned 
life insurance and $663 of other deferred fees, accrued long-term interest and notes receivable. Effective January 1, 2004, AMS established new 
deferred compensation plans. Participants in the prior plans either rolled-over their existing balances to the new plans or received distributions. 
Distributions from the prior plans were funded from collapse of company-owned life insurance plans, therefore, the balance of company-owed 
life insurance was $0 as of March 31, 2004. Other assets as of March 31, 2004 consisted of $912 of deferred fees, accrued long-term interest and 
notes receivable.  
   
NOTE 5 – EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS  
   
2003 Stock Incentive Plan  
   
On May 9, 2003, the stockholders of AMS approved the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan permits awards to all 
employees (including the D&IG employees) of stock options (incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options), restricted stock awards, 
stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units,  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
stock unit awards, and other incentive awards. The 2003 Plan authorizes the issuance of 4,500 shares of AMS’ common stock plus certain 
remaining shares, subject to the terms of the 2003 Plan, available under AMS’ 1996 Amended Stock Option Plan F, 1999 Contractor Stock 
Option Plan, Stock Option Plan for Employees and Restricted Stock and Stock Bonus Plan (collectively, the “Prior Plans”). As of December 31, 
2003, 5,377 shares were available for grant under the 2003 Plan.  
   
All option awards granted under the 2003 Plan have been granted at the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The terms of 
the awards are fixed on the date of grant. Options granted in 2003 under the 2003 Plan generally become exercisable over a three- or four-year 
vesting period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted under the 2003 Plan expire no more than ten years from 
the date of grant. Restricted stock awards granted under the 2003 Plan generally are subject to restrictions for a minimum of three years from the 
date of grant. Performance awards may be issued upon the achievement of certain performance criteria and only after the end of the relevant 
performance period as set forth in the applicable award agreement. Stock unit awards will generally have a vesting period of not less than three 
years.  
   
Prior Stock Option Plans  
   
Under AMS’ 1996 Amended Stock Option Plan F (“Plan F”) which was stockholder approved, up to 5,800 shares were authorized for issuance 
pursuant to incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options granted to employees (including the D&IG employees) and non-employee 
directors. Options that were granted under Plan F expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. After the adoption of the 2003 Plan as of 
May 9, 2003, AMS did not make any grants under Plan F.  
   
AMS also has an equity incentive plan, the Stock Option Plan for Employees, which was adopted by the Board on July 27, 2001. This plan is not 
stockholder approved. Under this plan, up to 1,000 shares were authorized for issuance to employees of AMS (including the D&IG employees) 
pursuant to non-qualified stock options. The maximum vesting and life of shares granted under this plan was ten years from the date of grant. 
After the adoption of the 2003 Plan as of May 9, 2003, AMS did not make any grants under this plan.  
   
The exercise price of stock options granted under all Prior Plans is not less than the fair market value on the date of grant. Options granted under 
the Prior Plans may be exercisable immediately, in monthly installments, or in annual installments, as set forth in option agreements.  
   
Restricted Stock  
   
AMS has a Restricted Stock and Stock Bonus Plan (the “Restricted Stock Plan”), adopted by the Board on May 11, 1990, which is not 
stockholder approved. Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Plan, restricted shares were granted to employees of AMS (including the D&IG 
employees) as discretionary awards or as profit-sharing awards upon the attainment of certain performance objectives. Restrictions on shares 
generally lapse over a three-year period. In certain circumstances, the receipt of discretionary awards could be deferred to a later specified date.  
   
Unearned compensation was recorded for restricted stock on the dates that restricted stock was granted based upon the market value of the 
shares. Compensation expense, allocated to the D&IG financial statements, for which restricted stock was granted was $382, $780 and $495 for 
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  
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DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
NOTE 6 – INCOME TAXES  
   
Income before taxes for the D&IG was derived solely in the United States for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,2003. The 
(benefit) provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, consisted of:  
   

   
A reconciliation of the income tax (benefit) provision and the amount computed by applying the statutory U.S. income tax rate of 35% for the 
years ended December 31, was as follows:  
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2003  
    

2002  
    

2001  
  

Current                           

Federal     $ —       $ (2,726 )   $ 4,734   
State       —         —         917   

         

Total current       —         (2,726 )     5,651   
Deferred                           

Federal       (3,327 )     1,049       (4,150 ) 
State       (562 )     198       (757 ) 

         

Total deferred       (3,889 )     1,247       (4,907 ) 
         

Total (benefit) provision for income taxes     $ (3,889 )   $ (1,479 )   $ 744   
         

     

2003 

    

2002  
    

2001  
  

Statutory U.S. rate     35.0 %   35.0 %   35.0 % 
State taxes, net of U.S. income tax     3.6     7.0     5.5   
Research tax credits     2.4     (150.1 )   (15.5 ) 
Meals and entertainment     (1.4 )   6.7     4.2   
Other     —       0.3     0.5   
Company owned life insurance     —       9.1     6.3   
Lobbying expenses     (1.5 )   11.7     3.7   

         

Effective tax rate     38.1 %   (80.3 )%   39.7 % 
         



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31 are as follows: 
   

   
These financial statements reflect net operating loss carry-forwards of $25,932 and tax credits of $321 from recent years that are anticipated to 
be fully realized in the sale of the D&IG to CACI. The D&IG was included in the consolidated tax returns of AMS and therefore AMS has paid 
cash for income taxes owed for all periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.  
   
NOTE 7 – ACCRUED COMPENSATION AND OTHER LONG-TERM O BLIGATIONS  
   

     

2003  
    

2002  
  

Deferred tax assets                   

Accrued expenses     $ 2,112     $ 1,898   
Employee-related compensation       6,524       5,862   
Allowance for doubtful accounts       1,231       866   
Loss and credit carry-forwards       10,410       2,261   
Other       2,339       562   

       

Total deferred tax assets       22,616       11,449   

Deferred tax liabilities                   

Unbilled receivables       (6,553 )     (4,947 ) 
Deferred revenue       (2,429 )     —     
Capitalized software and intangibles       (13,380 )     (4,048 ) 
Other       (238 )     (158 ) 

       

Total deferred tax liabilities       (22,600 )     (9,153 ) 
       

Net deferred tax asset     $ 16     $ 2,296   
       

The amounts of accrued compensation and benefits and other long-term obligations on the balance sheets include the following:  
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December 31,  

     

2003  
   

2002  

Accrued and incentive compensation     $ 14,570    $ 11,852 
Deferred compensation       5,392      3,315 
Severance       724      756 
Closure of facilities       1,060      1,037 
        

Accrued compensation and benefits     $ 21,746    $ 16,960 
        

Long-term deferred compensation     $ 2,647    $ 5,703 
Long-term closure of facilities       2,712      2,099 
Other       —        411 
        

Other long-term obligations     $ 5,359    $ 8,213 
        



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
Employee Benefit Plans  
   
AMS maintained a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering substantially all U.S. employees, including those in the D&IG. This 401(k) plan 
does not provide matching contributions.  
   
AMS had a simplified employee pension plan. This plan was a defined contribution plan whereby AMS made contributions, which were based 
on the application of a percentage specified by AMS to the qualified gross wages of eligible employees. Total plan expense allocated to the 
D&IG was approximately $5,231 in 2003, $3,966 in 2002, and $3,563 in 2001.  
   
Deferred Compensation  
   
The D&IG participated in deferred compensation plans that were implemented in late 1996, and permitted eligible employees to defer an elected 
portion of their compensation. The deferred compensation earned a specified rate of return. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the D&IG had 
accrued $8,035 and $9,015, respectively, of which $5,392 and $3,315, respectively, was classified as a current liability. The D&IG recorded 
interest expense of $581, $621, and $568 in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively, related to the earnings by the deferred compensation plan 
participants.  
   
To fund these plans, the D&IG purchased company-owned life insurance contracts which were held by an irrevocable grantor trust. Charges to 
other expense associated with these contracts were $343, $549, and $457 in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively, which were offset by other 
income to adjust the contracts to their cash surrender values of $365, $44, and $84 in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. Proceeds from the 
insurance policies are payable to the D&IG upon death of the insured. During 2001, AMS received proceeds of $1,810 associated with one of 
these policies, which resulted in a $305 gain allocated to the D&IG.  
   
Severance and Closure of Facilities  
   

   
In an effort to achieve cost reductions and align its work force with changing market conditions and revenue outlook, AMS recorded a charge in 
2003 of which $4,972 was allocated to the D&IG and was reported as indirect costs and selling expenses for severance and severance-related 
costs in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities (“FAS 146”). The 2003 severance 
costs relate to a reduction in senior level staff and management positions. In addition, during 2002 and 2001, charges of $3,823 and $6,804, 
respectively, were allocated to the D&IG and reported as indirect costs and selling expenses for severance and severance-related costs. These 
charges were recorded in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits 
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring ). The remaining $724 liability included in accrued 
compensation and benefits as of December 31, 2003 for severance and severance-related costs is expected to be paid over the next year. During 
2002 and 2001, the D&IG recorded charges of $1,133 and $3,956, respectively, for the  
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Severance  
    

Facilities 

    

Total  
  

2001 Charge     $ 6,804     $ 3,956     $ 10,760   
Cash payments       (5,670 )     (675 )     (6,345 ) 

         

Liability as of December 31, 2001       1,134       3,281       4,415   
2002 Charge       3,823       1,133       4,956   
Cash payments       (4,201 )     (1,278 )     (5,479 ) 

         

Liability as of December 31, 2002       756       3,136       3,892   
2003 Charge       4,972       1,857       6,829   
Cash payments       (5,004 )     (1,221 )     (6,225 ) 

         

Liability as of December 31, 2003     $ 724     $ 3,772     $ 4,496   
         



DEFENSE AND INTELLIGENCE GROUP OF AMERICAN MANAGEME NT SYSTEMS, INC  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - contin ued  

(amounts in thousands)  
   
closure and consolidation of facilities. During 2003, the D&IG recorded charges of $1,857 related to changes in estimates of the timing and 
amount of anticipated subtenant rental payments associated with the prior facility restructuring plan and for the closure and consolidation of 
additional facilities. Of the remaining $3,772 total liability at December 31, 2003, $2,712 represents a noncurrent liability recorded as other long-
term obligations for costs to be incurred through 2008.  
   
During the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, the D&IG did not record any charges under FAS 146 for severance or closure of 
facilities. The remaining liability at March 31, 2004 consisted of $378 for severance and $3,832 for closure of facilities. The facilities liability 
consists of $1,454 recorded in accrued compensation and benefits and $2,378 recorded as other long-term obligations.  
   
NOTE 8 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
   
Lease Commitments  
   
Rental expense of the D&IG totaled $15,824, $12,849 and $14,872 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 
following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under leases that were assumed by CACI as of December 31, 2003.  
   

   
Vredenburg Retention Agreements  
   

2004     $ 10,068 
2005       9,085 
2006       8,350 
2007       7,394 
2008       6,949 
Thereafter       7,405 
     

Total     $ 49,251 
     

In connection with the Vredenburg acquisition (see Note 2), AMS entered into agreements to pay up to approximately $3,600 for continued 
employment of selected former Vredenburg employees. These amounts will be paid out in installments over a two year period following the 
acquisition and are being expensed ratably over the periods earned. AMS paid $1,308 during the year ended December 31, 2003. The D&IG’s 
allocation of this expense was $1,226 which is included in direct costs in the accompanying consolidated 2003 statement of operations.  
   
Indemnification Agreements  
   
The disclosure provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements 
for Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, apply to indemnification agreements that may contingently require a 
guarantor to make payments. The D&IG enters into licensing arrangements with its customers for the rights to use intellectual property that 
include a commitment to indemnify the licensee against liability and damages arising from any third-party claims of patent, copyright, trademark 
or trade secret infringement. The D&IG cannot determine or predict the maximum amount of potential future payments under this type of 
indemnification because the D&IG would not have adequate information about the nature and scope of any such claim until a claim has been 
submitted to the D&IG. Third-party claims are subject to contest by the D&IG and dispute resolution procedures specified in the particular 
contract and payment by the D&IG under such indemnification clauses is generally conditional on the claim. As of December 31, 2003, the 
D&IG was not aware of any indemnification agreements that would require material payments.  
   

18  



CACI INTERNATIONAL INC  
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED  

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
   
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information has been prepared by CACI International Inc (“CACI”) and gives effect 
to the acquisition of certain assets and the assignment of certain liabilities associated with the Defense and Intelligence Group (“D&IG”) of 
American Management Systems, Inc., (“AMS”) completed on May 1, 2004 for $415 million in cash.  
   
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations for the twelve months ended June 30, 2003 has been prepared to give 
effect to the D&IG acquisition as if it had occurred on July 1, 2002. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations for 
the nine month period ended March 31, 2004 has been prepared to give effect to the D&IG acquisition as if it had occurred on July 1, 2003. The 
unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2004 has been prepared to give effect to the D&IG acquisition as if it 
has occurred on March 31, 2004.  
   
The pro forma adjustments, which are based on available information and certain assumptions that CACI believes are reasonable under the 
circumstances, are applied to the historical financial statements of CACI and the D&IG. CACI’s preliminary allocation of the D&IG purchase 
price is based upon preliminary estimates of the fair value of net assets acquired. Management believes that the preliminary allocation of the 
purchase price is reasonable, however, in some cases, the final allocation will be based upon an independent valuation that is not yet complete. 
As a result, the allocation is subject to revision as additional information becomes available, and such revised allocation could differ from the 
preliminary allocation.  
   
The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with the historical financial 
statements and the notes thereto for CACI and the D&IG. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information is provided for 
informational purposes only and does not purport to represent what CACI’s financial position or results of operations would actually have been 
had the acquisition occurred on such dates or to project CACI’s results of operations or financial position for any future period.  
   
These pro forma financial statements contain certain costs, including expenses allocated to the D&IG, that CACI’s management does not expect 
will continue. As a result, actual results may differ significantly from the pro forma information presented herein.  
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CACI INTERNATIONAL INC AND SUBSIDIARIES  
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMEN T OF OPERATIONS  

Twelve months ended June 30, 2003  
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  

   

   
See the accompanying notes.  
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Historical  
CACI (a)  

    

Historical  
D&IG (b)  

    

Pro Forma  
Adjustments  

    

Pro Forma  
CACI  

Revenue     $ 843,138     $ 215,962     $ (9,600 )(g)   $ 1,049,500 

Costs and expenses                                 

Direct costs       517,975       105,417       (9,120 )(g)     614,272 
Indirect costs and selling expenses       242,153       111,252       —         353,405 
Depreciation and amortization       12,604       4,814       16,560 (c)     33,978 

           

Total costs and expenses       772,732       221,483       7,440       1,001,655 

Operating income (loss)       70,406       (5,521 )     (17,040 )     47,845 

Interest (income) expense, net       (1,374 )     (43 )     13,196 (d)(h)     11,779 
           

Income (loss) before income taxes       71,780       (5,478 )     (30,236 )     36,066 
Income tax provision (benefit)       27,069       (3,188 )     (14,587 )(e)     9,294 
           

Net income (loss)     $ 44,711     $ (2,290 )   $ (15,649 )   $ 26,772 
           

Basic shares       28,647                       28,647 
Basic earnings per share     $ 1.56                     $ 0.93 

Diluted shares       29,425                       29,425 
Diluted earnings per share     $ 1.52                     $ 0.91 



CACI INTERNATIONAL INC AND SUBSIDIARIES  
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMEN T OF OPERATIONS  

Nine months ended March 31, 2004  
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  

   

   
See the accompanying notes  
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Historical  
CACI (a)  

    

Historical  
D&IG (b)  

    

Pro Forma  
Adjustments  

    

Pro Forma 
CACI  

Revenue     $ 787,507     $ 211,297     $ (13,865 )(f)(g)   $ 984,939 

Costs and expenses                                 

Direct costs       488,729       107,983       (12,652 )(f)(g)     584,060 
Indirect costs and selling expenses       217,441       103,291       (633 )(f)     320,099 
Depreciation and amortization       12,384       4,736       12,420 (c)     29,540 

           

Total costs and expenses       718,554       216,010       (865 )     933,699 

Operating income (loss)       68,953       (4,713 )     (13,000 )     51,240 

Interest (income) expense, net       (631 )     334       9,881 (d)(f)(h)     9,584 
           

Income (loss) before income taxes       69,584       (5,047 )     (22,881 )     41,656 

Income tax provision (benefit)       26,592       (1,780 )     (8,753 )(e)     16,059 
           

Net income (loss)     $ 42,992     $ (3,267 )   $ (14,128 )   $ 25,597 
           

Basic shares       29,022                       29,022 
Basic earnings per share     $ 1.48                     $ 0.88 

Diluted shares       29,875                       29,875 
Diluted earnings per share     $ 1.44                     $ 0.86 



NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

   
The following notes relate to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations:  
   

   

a) To reflect the reported historical operating results of CACI for the year ended June 30, 2003 and the unaudited operating results for the 
nine months ended March 31, 2004. 

   

b) To reflect the historical results of operations of the D&IG for the twelve month period ended June 30, 2003, consistent with CACI’s fiscal 
year. The unaudited quarterly statements of operations derived from the audited statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 
2002 and 2003 were used. 

   

   

   

c) To record estimated amortization expense related to the identifiable intangible assets associated with the acquisition of the D&IG. CACI 
has retained an outside firm to do an independent appraisal for the allocation of the purchase price related to the acquisition of the D&IG. 
As this appraisal has not yet been completed, the total allocation, the useful lives, and the method of amortization may change. Based on 
the most current projections, CACI recorded the following intangible assets: (amounts in thousands). 

               

Amortization Expense  

     

Amount  
   

Estimated 
Useful Life 

 
   

12 Months Ended 
 

June 30, 2003  
   

Nine Months Ended 
 

March 1, 2004  

Non-compete agreements and contracts related 
to customer relationships     $ 132,000    8 years    $ 16,560    $ 12,420 

d) In conjunction with the acquisition of the D&IG, CACI secured $550 million in financing of which $200 million was in the form of a 
revolving credit facility that expires in 5 years and $350 million was in the form of a term loan that expires in seven years. The adjustment 
records the incremental interest expense at an annual average rate of 2.91% related to the additional borrowings of $422.5 million resulting 
from $415 million in purchase price plus associated financing fees incurred by CACI under its revolving credit facility to finance the 
D&IG acquisition. The average interest rate used above is the average interest rate we estimate will be applicable based on historical rates. 
The revolving credit facility will bear interest at adjustable rates. An increase of 1/8% in the interest rate applicable to the revolver would 
result in an increase in pro forma interest expense of $514,000 and $386,000 and pro forma net income of $26,258,000 and $25,211,000 
for the twelve months ended June 30, 2003 and the nine months ended March 31, 2004, respectively. 

   

e) To recognize federal and state income taxes at combined rates of 37.7% and 38.2% for the twelve months ended June 30, 2003 and the 
nine months ended March 31, 2004, respectively, which reflects CACI’s overall tax rate for the corresponding periods. 

   

f) To reflect the sale of Karcher Group Incorporated (“Karcher” ) previously operated by the D&IG. Karcher was acquired on August 1, 2003 
by AMS in connection with AMS’ acquisition of R.M. Vrendenburg & Co. CACI sold Karcher in May 2004, as it was not complimentary 
to the business operated by CACI. 

   
g) To reflect the elimination of intercompany revenue and expense between CACI and the D&IG. 
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h) To reflect bank financing fee amortization as follows (amounts in thousands): 

     

Amount 

   
Estimated 

 
Term  

   

Interest Expense  

           

12 Months Ended 
 

June 30, 2003  
   

Nine Months Ended 
 

March 31, 2004  

Term loan     $ 4,800    7 years    $ 686    $ 514 
Revolving credit facility       2,700    5 years      540      405 
                
     $ 7,500         $ 1,226    $ 919 
                



CACI INTERNATIONAL INC  
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  

As of March 31, 2004  
(amounts in thousands)  

   

   
See accompanying notes.  
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Historical  
CACI (a)  

    

Historical  
D&IG (b)  

   

ProForma  
Acquisition  

Adjustments(c) 

    

Pro Forma  
CACI  

  

ASSETS                                  

Current assets                                  

Cash and equivalents     $ 22,634     $ —      $ —       $ 22,634   
Marketable securities       576       —        —         576   
Billed accounts receivable, net       247,293       50,300      —         297,593   
Unbilled accounts receivable       20,691       35,624      —         56,315   
Deferred income taxes       1,178       12,738      —         13,916   
Prepaid expenses and other       10,515       4,543      —         15,058   

            

Total current assets       302,887       103,205      —         406,092   

Property and equipment, net       20,271       5,654      —         25,925   
Accounts receivable, long-term       9,693       —        —         9,693   
Developed computer software, net       332       23,467      (4,160 )(d)     19,639   
Other assets       26,334       912      7,500 (f)     34,746   
Other intangible assets, net       45,688       13,251      118,749 (g)     177,688   
Goodwill, net       217,912       26,892      208,729 (g)     453,533   
            

Total assets     $ 623,117     $ 173,381    $ 330,818     $ 1,127,316   
            

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY                                  

Current liabilities                                  

Note payable – current portion     $ 1,632     $ —      $ —       $ 1,632   
Accounts payable       16,332       7,014      —         23,346   
Other accrued expenses       38,878       7,231      29,500 (d)     75,609   
Accrued compensation and benefits       54,271       16,774      —         71,045   
Income taxes payable       1,304       —        —         1,304   

            

Total current liabilities       112,417       31,019      29,500       172,936   

Notes payable, net of current portion       880       —        —         880   
Revolving credit facility       —         —        422,500       422,500   
Deferred rent expenses       5,099       —        —         5,099   
Deferred income taxes       3,446       11,801      7,000 (e)     22,247   
Other long-term obligations       23,017       2,379      —         25,396   

            

Total liabilities       144,859       45,199      459,000       649,058   

Common stock       3,695       —        —         3,695   
Capital in excess of par       215,745       —        —         215,745   
Retained earnings       277,466       128,182      (128,182 )     277,466   
Accumulated other comprehensive income       4,231       —        —         4,231   
Treasury stock       (22,879 )     —        —         (22,879 ) 

            

Total shareholders’  equity       478,258       128,182      (128,182 )     478,258   
            

Total liabilities and shareholders’  equity     $ 623,117     $ 173,381    $ 330,818     $ 1,127,316   
            



CACI INTERNATIONAL INC  
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
   
The following notes relate to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.  
   

   
  a) To reflect the historical unaudited financial position of CACI. 

   
  b) To reflect the historical unaudited financial position of the D&IG. 

   

  

c) The D&IG acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations. Accordingly, the identifiable net tangible and separately identifiable 
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized at their estimated fair values as of the date of the combination. The 
pro forma adjustments herein are based on management’s preliminary estimates of fair value. The final allocation of the purchase 
price, when completed, may differ materially from the preliminary purchase price allocation herein. 

Borrowings utilized for the D&IG are as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

   

Purchase Price     $ 415,000 
Financing Costs       7,500 
     

Total borrowings     $ 422,500 
     

The total consideration paid for the acquisition was obtained primarily through borrowings under CACI’s credit facilities.  
   

The preliminary allocation of the purchase price is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
   

   

   

Net estimated fair value of assets purchased     $ 88,039   
Goodwill       235,621   
Estimated intangible assets       132,000   
Loss reserve on contract       (29,500 ) see footnote (d) 
Reduction in value of developed computer software       (4,160 ) see footnote (d) 
Deferred income taxes       (7,000 ) see footnote (e) 
     
     $ 415,000   
     

  

d) The D&IG was capitalizing software to be sold to both Federal and Civilian customers under Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 86, Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed . Currently, only one 
customer is contractually obligated to purchase this on-going developed software. While CACI’s management intends to complete 
the development of this software for the customer, CACI does not plan to continue to market this software. As a result, no value was 
allocated to the capitalized software as part of the purchase and therefore, $4.16 million was removed from Developed Computer 
Software. In addition, the change in management’s intent regarding the software product changes the accounting guidance to AICPA 
Statement of Position No. 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction, Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts (“SOP 
81-1”). When applying percentage of completion accounting using SOP 81-1, the contract is expected to be in a significant loss 
position. As a result, $29.5 million has been recorded as a liability in Other Accrued Expenses, based on the most recent estimate-to-
complete analysis available. 
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e) As part of CACI’s acquisition of the D&IG business, the Company acquired the stock of R.M. Vredenburg & Co. (“Vredenburg”). 

For book purposes, CACI is required to amortize intangible assets, however, for tax purposes, the amortization is not deductible. This 
results in a deferred tax liability estimated to be approximately $7.0 million. 



   

  
f) In securing the $550 million in financing (see Note d of the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of 

Operations) CACI incurred $7.5 million of debt financing fees which have been recorded as Other Assets on the balance sheet. These 
costs will be amortized over the terms of the related credit facilities. 
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g) To adjust Other Intangible Assets and Goodwill related to the AMS acquisition of Vredenburg. These assets have been subsequently 

reevaluated with the purchase of D&IG by CACI. The chart below reconciles the change in Other Intangible Assets and Goodwill: 

     

Other Intangible 
Assets  

    

Goodwill  
  

Purchase price allocation     $ 132,000     $ 235,621   
Historical D&IG       (13,251 )     (26,892 ) 
       

Pro forma adjustment     $ 118,749     $ 208,729   
       



SIGNATURES  
   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.  
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    CACI International Inc 
  

  
Registrant  

   
Date:    July 16, 2004  

  

By:  
  

/s/ Dr. J. P. London  

        Dr. J. P. London  
        Chairman of the Board, President  
        Chief Executive Officer and Director  
        (Principal Executive Officer)  

Date:    July 16, 2004  
  

By:  
  

/s/ Stephen L. Waechter  

        Stephen L. Waechter  
        Executive Vice President  
        Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
        (Principal Financial Officer)  

Date:    July 16, 2004  
  

By:  
  

/s/ James D. Kuhn  

        James D. Kuhn  
        Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller  
        (Principal Accounting Officer)  



Exhibit 23.1 
   

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Forms S-8 Nos. 333-104118, 333-104115, and 333-91676) 
pertaining to the 2002 Employee, Management, and Director Stock Purchase Plans, the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and the CACI 
$MART Plan, respectively of CACI International Inc, of our report dated July 1, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of 
the Defense and Intelligence Group of American Management Systems, Inc., included in the Current Report (Form 8-K/A).  
   
McLean, Virginia    /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
July 15, 2004      



Exhibit 99.4 
   

CACI International Inc  
CACI, INC. - FEDERAL  

Dagger Acquisition Corporation  
American Management Systems, Incorporated  

CGI Group Inc.  
CGI Virginia Corporation  

   
ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT  
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT  
   
This Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2004 (the “ Agreement ”), is made by and among CACI International Inc , a Delaware 
corporation (“ Parent ”), CACI, INC. - FEDERAL , a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“ Federal ”), Dagger 
Acquisition Corporation (“ Acquisition Sub ”), a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Federal, American Management 
Systems, Incorporated , a Delaware corporation (“ Arrow ”), CGI Group Inc. , a Québec corporation (“ Crossbow ”) and CGI Virginia 
Corporation , a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Crossbow (“ Merger Sub ”).  
   

WITNESSETH  
   
WHEREAS, Arrow and certain of its Subsidiaries have heretofore provided information technology services to, and designed software for use 
by, various agencies of the United States Government involved with defense, the United States Intelligence Community (as comprised by Air 
Force Intelligence, Army Intelligence, the Central Intelligence Agency, Coast Guard Intelligence, the Defense Intelligence Agency, Marine 
Corps Intelligence, the National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency, the National Reconnaissance Office, the National Security Agency and Navy 
Intelligence, as well as the intelligence organizations and functions within the Department of Energy, the Department of Homeland Security, the 
Department of State, the Department of Treasury and the Federal Bureau of Investigation) and homeland security (consisting of all agencies of 
the United States Government included in the Department of Homeland Security as of the date hereof), either directly or through other parties 
that provide goods and/or services to such agencies (generally known as Arrow’s “Defense and Intelligence Group”) (together with all other 
operations of such Subsidiaries, the “ Business ”);  
   
WHEREAS, Acquisition Sub wishes to purchase certain assets and assume certain liabilities related to the Business, and Arrow wishes to sell 
such assets and assign such liabilities to Acquisition Sub (the “ Transaction ”);  
   
WHEREAS, Merger Sub intends to purchase all or substantially all of the capital stock of Arrow immediately upon the Closing of the 
Transaction and to operate those of Arrow’s businesses that Acquisition Sub does not purchase hereunder;  
   
WHEREAS, to facilitate Acquisition Sub’s assumption of the Business, Arrow, Crossbow, Acquisition Sub, Merger Sub and certain other 
parties, simultaneously with the execution hereof, are entering into agreements relating to (a) transitional services, (b) intellectual property, (c) 
the development and maintenance by Crossbow for the benefit of Acquisition Sub, and by Acquisition Sub for the benefit of Crossbow, of 
software for use by customers and (d) competition (the “ Ancillary Agreements ”);  
   
WHEREAS, to induce Acquisition Sub to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, Arrow is agreeing 
to make certain representations and warranties, and perform certain covenants in connection herewith;  



NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter set forth and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:  
   

Article 1  
Definitions  

   
1.1 Certain Matters of Construction . A reference to an article, section, exhibit or schedule shall mean an Article of, a Section in, or Exhibit or 
Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise expressly stated. The titles and headings herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in any 
manner limit the construction of this Agreement which shall be considered as a whole. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” when 
used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without limitation.” All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the 
defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The 
definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to 
the feminine and neuter genders of such terms. Any agreement, instrument, law or regulation defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or 
instrument that is referred to herein means such agreement, instrument or law or regulation as from time to time amended, modified or 
supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of laws and regulations) by succession 
of comparable successor laws or regulations and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. References to a 
Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. References to amounts in Dollars are to amounts in United States Dollars.  
   
1.2 Cross References . The following terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement in the Sections set forth below shall have the respective 
meanings therein defined:  
   

Term  
  

Definition 

Acquisition Group    Section 6.2 
Acquisition Sub    Preamble 
Action of Divestiture    Section 6.12.5 
Active Government Contract    Appendix A, Section A22.1 
Agreement    Preamble 
Ancillary Agreements    Recitals 
Arrow    Preamble 
Arrow Disclosure Schedule    Article 3 
Auditor    Section 2.8.3 
Balance Sheet Date    Appendix A, Section A5 
Business    Recitals 
Closing Balance Sheet    Section 2.8.1 
Closing Date    Section 2.5 
Closing    Section 2.5 
Confidentiality Agreements    Section 6.5 



Crossbow    Preamble 
Dagger Assets    Section 2.1 
Dagger Balance Sheet    Appendix A, Section A4 
Dagger Company    Appendix A, Section 2 
Dagger Completed Engagements    Section 2.1.2 
Dagger Contracts    Section 2.1.3 
Dagger Engagements    Section 2.1.1 
Dagger Financial Statements    Appendix A, Section A4 
Dagger Government Contract    Appendix A, Section A22.2 
Dagger Insurance Contracts    Appendix A, Section A18 
Dagger Leases    Section 2.1.4 
Dagger Obligations    Section 2.3 
Dagger Proprietary Rights    Section 5.1(c) 
Dagger Receivables    Section 2.1.9 
Dagger Subsidiary    Appendix A, Section A2 
Dagger Subsidiary Plans    Appendix A, Section A10.4(a) 
Dagger Subsidiary Shares    Section 2.1.14 
Dagger Tangible Assets    Section 2.1.8 
Dagger Work-In-Process    Section 2.1.9 
Employee List    Appendix A, Section A11.2 
Excluded Assets    Section 2.2 
FAR    Appendix A, Section A22.3 
Federal    Preamble 
Final Closing Balance Sheet    Section 2.8.4 
Final Date    Section 8.1(g) 
GAAP    Section 2.8.1 
Governmental Entity    Appendix A, Section A3.2 
HSR Act    Appendix A, Section A3.2 
Intellectual Property Agreement    Section 2.1.6 
Merger Sub    Preamble 
Objections    Section 2.8.2 
Parent    Preamble 
Pension Plans    Appendix A, Section A10.1 
Permits    Appendix A, Section A7 
Purchase Price    Section 2.4 
Reported Business    Appendix A, Section A4 
Representatives    Section 6.1.2 
Retained Operations    Recitals 
Transaction    Recitals 
Welfare Plan    Appendix A, Section A10.4(g) 



1.3 Certain Definitions . As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  
   
Affiliate : with respect to any Person, any Person which, directly or indirectly, Controls, is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such 
Person.  
   
Affiliated Group : any affiliated group within the meaning of Code section 1504(a).  
   
COBRA : the provisions of Section 4980B of the Code and Part 6 of Title I of ERISA.  
   
Code : the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.  
   
Contract : any contract, subcontract, basic ordering agreement, blanket purchase agreement, task order, letter contract or purchase order of any 
kind, including all amendments, modifications and options thereunder or relating thereto, but excluding any Employee Benefit Plan.  
   
Control : (including with correlative meaning, Controlled by and under common Control with): as used with respect to any Person, the 
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through 
the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  
   
Dagger Consultant : any Person listed on Schedule 1.3A , any Person retained to replace such scheduled Person, and any new consultant that 
Parent and Crossbow agree shall constitute a Dagger Consultant, but excluding any pre-Closing terminations.  
   
Dagger Employee : any person listed on Schedule 1.3B , any person hired to replace such scheduled person, and any newly hired person who 
Parent and Crossbow agree is a Dagger Employee, but excluding any pre-Closing terminations.  
   
Dagger Facilities : the physical locations subject to the Dagger Leases.  
   
Dagger Material Adverse Effect : any materially adverse change in or effect on the financial condition, business, operations, assets (including 
intangible assets), properties, results of operations, prospects or liabilities of the Business (including any act by the Central Intelligence Agency 
or the Defense Security Service to invalidate, terminate, suspend or revoke any facilities security clearance under National Industrial Security 
Program Operating Manual related to the Business), when taken as a whole, from the state of the Business as and to the extent represented in 
Annex A hereto as of the date hereof, other than any change, effect, event, occurrence, state of facts or development (a) relating to or resulting 
from economic or geopolitical conditions in general (except to the extent such change or effect has a disproportionate impact on the Business 
relative to other business entities engaged in the same line or lines of business as the Business), (b) relating to or resulting from changes in legal 
or regulatory conditions (except to the extent such change or effect has a disproportionate impact on the Business relative to other business 
entities engaged in the same line or lines of business as the Business),  



(c) resulting from the execution or announcement of this Agreement, (d) resulting from any actions taken by Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub or 
any of their Affiliates after the date hereof and prior to the Closing Date that relate to, or affect, the business of Arrow and the Dagger 
Subsidiaries, (e) resulting from compliance by Arrow and the Dagger Subsidiaries with the terms of this Agreement or (f) resulting from any 
liability, cost or expense associated with, relating to or arising from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Merger Agreement 
(including legal, accounting and financial advisory fees and disbursements).  
   
Dagger Material Contract : any Dagger Engagement or any contract to which any Dagger Subsidiary is a party (a) pursuant to which a Dagger 
Company is providing or has committed to provide in the future services and/or products on a fixed price basis, or (b) pursuant to which a 
Dagger Company is providing or has committed to provide in the future services and/or products in exchange for compensation to the Dagger 
Company in excess of $1,000,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term Dagger Material Contract shall not include any contracts to which 
Karcher Group, Inc. is a party.  
   
Employee Benefit Plan : any “employee pension benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), “employee welfare benefit plan” (as 
defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), and any other plan, agreement or arrangement involving direct or indirect compensation, including without 
limitation insurance coverage, severance benefits, disability benefits, deferred compensation, bonuses, stock options, stock purchase, phantom 
stock, stock appreciation or other forms of incentive compensation or post-retirement compensation.  
   
Environmental Claim : any actual notice from a Governmental Entity or other third party alleging potential liability (including potential liability 
for investigatory costs, cleanup costs, response or remediation costs, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, fines or 
penalties) arising out of, based on or resulting from (a) the presence, or release of any Material of Environmental Concern at any location, or (b) 
circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or alleged violation, of any Environmental Law.  
   
Environmental Laws : any and all Federal, state, local or foreign statutes, regulations, ordinances and common law relating to the protection of 
public health, safety or the environment in effect on the Closing Date and that are binding on any Dagger Company.  
   
ERISA Affiliate : with respect to a party, any member (other than that party) of a controlled group of corporations, group of trades or businesses 
under common control or affiliated service group that includes that party (as defined for purposes of Section 414(b), (c) and (m) of the Code).  
   
ERISA : the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.  
   
Exchange Act : the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  



Government Contract : any prime contract with the United States Government and any contract with a prime contractor or higher-tier 
subcontractor under a prime contract with the United States Government.  
   
Knowledge of Arrow : shall mean the actual, current knowledge of any of the following employees of Arrow: Alfred T. Mockett, Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer; David R. Fontaine, Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Chief Risk Officer and Secretary; Garry Griffiths, 
Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer; Wick Keating, Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer, Donna 
Morea, Executive Vice President, Public Sector Group; James C. Reagan, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; David Sharman, 
Senior Vice President of Corporate Development; John Hillen, Senior Vice President, Public Sector Group; Michael Titmus, Vice President, 
Public Sector Group; Gil Guarino, Vice President, Public Sector Group; and Jennifer Felix, Vice President and Corporate Controller.  
   
Legal Requirement : any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other law, statute, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, 
ordinance, code, order, edict, decree, rule, regulation, ruling or requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put 
into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Entity.  
   
Liability : any liability or obligation, known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, accrued or unaccrued, absolute or contingent, liquidated or 
unliquidated, or otherwise, and whether due or to become due, including any liability for Taxes.  
   
Materials of Environmental Concern : petroleum and its by-products and any and all other substances or constituents to the extent that they are 
regulated by, or form the basis of liability under, any Environmental Law.  
   
Merger : the merger of Arrow and Merger Sub pursuant to the Merger Agreement.  
   
Merger Agreement : That certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of the date hereof, by and among Arrow, Crossbow and Crossbow’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary.  
   
Net Tangible Asset Value : The net value as of the Closing Date of the sum of (a) the total current assets of the Business (excluding (i) 
intercompany accounts and (ii) assets of R.M. Vredenburg & Co. that do not relate to the Business), (b) the net fixed assets and net purchased 
software, of the Business and (c) the other non-current assets of the Business (excluding net developed software, net intangibles, and goodwill); 
less the total liabilities of the Business, each as determined in accordance with GAAP.  
   
Permitted Encumbrances : (a) Security Interests for current taxes, water and sewer charges and other statutory liens and trusts not yet due and 
payable or that are being contested in good faith, (b) Security Interests incurred in the ordinary course of business, such as carriers’, 
warehousemen’s, landlords’ and mechanics’ liens and other similar liens arising in the ordinary course of business, (c) Security Interests on 
personal property  



leased under operating leases, (d) Security Interests, pledges or deposits incurred or made in connection with workmen’s compensation, 
unemployment insurance and other social security benefits, or securing the performance of bids, tenders, leases, contracts (other than for the 
repayment of borrowed money), statutory obligations, progress payments, surety and appeal bonds and other obligations of like nature, in each 
case incurred in the ordinary course of business, (e) pledges of or Security Interests on manufactured products as security for any drafts or bills 
of exchange drawn in connection with the importation of such manufactured products in the ordinary course of business, (f) Security Interests or 
other claims arising under Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code that are special property interests in goods identified as goods to which a 
contract refers, (g) Security Interests arising under Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code that are purchase money security interests, (h) any 
Security Interest, right, restriction, encumbrance or limitation imposed or created by or arising under any Ancillary Agreement, (i) as to any 
Dagger Lease or Dagger Facilities, those Security Interests and other restrictions affecting the interest of the lessor thereof, (j) those Security 
Interests and restrictions created by or arising under the terms of any Dagger Lease and (k) such Security Interests or other imperfections or 
minor defects of title, easements, rights-of-way and other similar restrictions (if any) as are insubstantial in character, amount or extent, do not 
materially detract from the value or interfere with the present or proposed use of the properties or assets of the party subject thereto or affected 
thereby, and do not otherwise materially adversely affect or impair the business or operations of such party.  
   
Person : an individual, a corporation, an association, a partnership, an estate, a trust or any other entity or organization.  
   
Securities Act : the Securities Act of 1933, as amended .  
   
Security Interest : any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, charge, or other security interest.  
   
Subsidiary : With respect to any corporation, association, or other business entity, any corporation, association, or other business entity a 
majority (by number of votes on the election of directors or persons holding positions with similar responsibilities) of the shares of capital stock 
(or other voting interests) of which are owned, beneficially or of record, by the first corporation, association, or other business entity.  
   
Tax Return : any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or 
attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.  
   
Tax : any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, 
windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Code section 59A), customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social 
security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-
on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not.  



Treasury Regulation : a regulation promulgated by the United States Treasury Department under one or more provisions of the Code.  
   
United States Government : the government of the United States or any agency, department, division, subdivision or office thereof.  
   

Article 2  
The Purchase And Sale of Assets  

   

   

2.1 Purchase and Sale of Assets . Upon and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, at the Closing, Arrow shall sell, transfer and assign 
to Acquisition Sub, and Acquisition Sub shall purchase and acquire from Arrow, all right, title and interest in and to the assets utilized 
in connection with the performance and technical and administrative support of the Business, including the following assets (the “ 
Dagger Assets ” ), in each case free and clear of all Security Interests, except Permitted Encumbrances: 

   

  
2.1.1 all contracts and other arrangements relating to the Business pursuant to which Arrow is providing goods and/or services, and 

all proposals, bids and offers for future such contracts and arrangements, including the contracts and other arrangements, 
proposals, bids and offers listed on Schedule 2.1.1 (the “  Dagger Engagements ” ); 

   

  
2.1.2 all contracts and other arrangements pursuant to which Arrow formerly provided goods and/or services relating to the 

Business, excluding the contracts and other arrangements listed on Schedule 2.1.2 (the “  Dagger Completed Engagements ” ); 

   

  

2.1.3 all other contracts relating to the Business and to which Arrow is a party, including employment agreements, nondisclosure 
agreements, teaming agreements, joint ventures, joint marketing agreements, consulting agreements and subcontracts (the 
“Dagger Contracts”), but excluding the Dagger Leases, regardless of whether Arrow has obtained any necessary consents to 
the assignment of such Dagger Contracts; 

  
2.1.4 all of the leases, subleases, licenses or other agreements for the use of physical locations listed on Schedule 2.1.4 (the “  

Dagger Leases ” ); 



   

  
2.1.5 all prepaid expenses, deposits, advances, other prepayments and related rights paid or obtained by Arrow relating to the 

Business, (other than those, if any, which constitute Excluded Assets under Section 2.2) that exist as of the Closing; 

   

  
2.1.6 all of the rights in or relating to intellectual property described in the Ancillary Agreement relating to intellectual property, the 

form of which is attached as Exhibit A (the “  Intellectual Property Agreement ” ); 

   
  2.1.7 all of Arrow’s training materials, speaking materials and sales or promotional materials that relate to the Business; 

   

  

2.1.8 all of Arrow’s tangible assets primarily relating to the Business (other than those tangible assets, if any, which constitute 
Excluded Assets under Section 2.2), including all furniture, fixtures, machinery, office and other equipment and leasehold 
improvements relating to the Business and all other tangible assets as materially listed on Schedule 2.1.8 (the “ Dagger 
Tangible Assets ” ); 

   

  
2.1.9 all of Arrow’s accounts receivable and unbilled accounts receivable and work-in-process that relate to the Business (the “  

Dagger Receivables ”  and the “  Dagger Work-In-Process ,”  respectively); 

   

  

2.1.10 all books, papers, ledgers, documents and records relating to the Dagger Assets, including all records and documents relating 
to the Dagger Engagements, the Dagger Contracts, the Dagger Receivables, the Dagger Work-In-Process and the Dagger 
Obligations (provided that Arrow may retain copies of such books, papers, ledgers, documents and records), as well as 
complete copies of all other books, papers, ledgers, documents and records relating to the Dagger Assets. 

   
  2.1.11 all inventory and supplies related to the Business; 

  
2.1.12 all Permits relating to the Business or the Dagger Facilities, including the permits listed on Schedule 2.1.12 , to the extent the 

same may be transferred; and 



   
  2.1.13 all of Arrow’s other tangible and intangible assets related to the Business. 

   

  
2.1.14 all of Arrow’s capital stock and other voting interests in the Dagger Subsidiaries (collectively, the “ Dagger Subsidiary Shares 

” ). 

   

2.2 Excluded Assets . Notwithstanding Section 2.1, no interest of Arrow in or to the assets listed on Schedule 2.2 (the “ Excluded Assets ”) 
is being sold, assigned or otherwise transferred to Acquisition Sub. 

   

2.3 Assumption of Specified Obligations . At the Closing, Acquisition Sub shall agree to assume and perform after the Closing when and 
as they become due the obligations and liabilities of Arrow related to the Business, including the following (the “ Dagger Obligations 
” ): 

   

  
2.3.1 Arrow’s accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred revenue relating to the Business through the Closing Date, such 

amounts to be calculated in a manner consistent with the Dagger Balance Sheet for the Reported Business, except that such 
amounts shall be for the Business. 

   

  
2.3.2 Arrow’s obligations after the Closing under the Dagger Engagements, the Dagger Completed Engagements, the Dagger 

Contracts and the Dagger Leases; and 

   

  
2.3.3 Arrow’s liabilities to Dagger Employees that are not covered by insurance held by Arrow or Crossbow, whether or not such 

persons actually become employees of Acquisition Sub. 

Except for the Dagger Obligations, Acquisition Sub is assuming no liabilities or obligations of Arrow in connection with this 
transaction, including (a) any liability or obligation of Arrow to any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates (b) any liability or obligation of 
Arrow to any director, officer, employee or other agent of Arrow (other than the Dagger Employees), (c) any liability or obligation of 
Arrow under any contract, agreement or arrangement relating to the Business or the conduct thereof other than the Dagger 
Engagements, the Dagger Completed Engagements, the Dagger Contracts and the Dagger Leases, (d) any trade or practice liabilities or  



obligations of Arrow, (e) any liability or obligation of Arrow to any current, former or deceased employee of Arrow or any of its 
Subsidiaries or Affiliates (other than the Dagger Subsidiaries), other than the Dagger Employees, (f) any liability or obligation of Arrow 
or any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Dagger Subsidiaries) under any Employee Benefit Plan, or (g) any liability of Arrow for Taxes. 
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Arrow and its Subsidiaries (exclusive of the Dagger Subsidiaries) shall be solely 
responsible for payment and performance of all liabilities, obligations and amounts at any time owing by any of them before or after the 
Closing Date, whether direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, known or unknown, other than the Dagger Obligations.  

   
The parties to this Agreement intend that any Liability of Arrow that is based on, or arises out of, facts or circumstances that existed 
prior to the Closing Date and is not primarily related to the Business shall not be assumed by Acquisition Sub and shall not be or 
become a Dagger Obligation except as expressly set forth herein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no Liability of Arrow 
that is not primarily related to the Business shall be allocated or divided between the Business, on the one hand, and the business and 
operations being acquired by Crossbow and Merger Sub, on the other hand, unless expressly provided herein.  

   
The parties understand that Arrow will not assume the liabilities of the Dagger Subsidiaries, but that such liabilities shall be retained by 
the Dagger Subsidiaries.  

   

   

2.4 Purchase Price . The purchase price (the “  Purchase Price ” ) to be paid by Acquisition Sub for the Dagger Assets shall be Four 
Hundred Fifteen Million Dollars ($415,000,000), subject to adjustment as provided below in Section 2.8. The payment of the Purchase 
Price shall be made in immediately available funds wired to one or more accounts designated by Arrow or by such other method as may 
be agreed by Arrow and Acquisition Sub. 

   

2.5 Closing . The closing of the purchase and sale of the Dagger Assets (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Arnold & Porter 
LLP in McLean, Virginia, commencing at 9 a.m. local time on such date that is the first business day immediately following the 
satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to the obligations of the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (the “ 
Closing Date ” ). 

2.6 Instruments of Transfer . Arrow shall effect the transfer of the Dagger Assets and the Dagger Obligations to Acquisition Sub at the 
Closing by such bills of sale, assignments, assumptions and other instruments of transfer as Acquisition Sub or its 



counsel deem necessary or appropriate to transfer full legal and beneficial title to the Dagger Assets free and clear of all Security 
Interests whatsoever except Permitted Encumbrances, and to transfer full responsibility for the Dagger Obligations. As appropriate, such 
documents shall contain customary warranties and covenants of title and shall be in form and substance acceptable to Acquisition Sub 
and its counsel.  

   

   

2.7 Additional Actions . At any time and from time to time after the Closing Date, (a) at the reasonable request of Acquisition Sub, Arrow 
shall execute and deliver to Acquisition Sub such other instruments of transfer, conveyance, assignment and confirmation and take such 
action as Acquisition Sub may reasonably deem necessary or desirable in order to transfer, convey and assign to Acquisition Sub and to 
confirm Acquisition Sub’s title to any of assets primarily utilized in connection with the performance and technical and administrative 
support of the Business inadvertently left in the control or possession of Arrow and all instruments, undertakings or other documents 
and take such other action as Acquisition Sub may reasonably deem necessary or desirable in order to have Arrow fully assume and be 
liable for any Liabilities of Arrow that are not Dagger Obligations and that were inadvertently assumed by Acquisition Sub, and (b) at 
the reasonable request of Arrow, Acquisition Sub shall execute and deliver to Arrow such other instruments of transfer, conveyance, 
assignment and confirmation and take such action as Arrow may reasonably deem necessary or desirable in order to transfer, convey 
and assign to Arrow and to confirm Arrow’s title to any of the Excluded Assets inadvertently transferred to Acquisition Sub and all 
instruments, undertakings or other documents and take such other action as Arrow may reasonably deem necessary or desirable in order 
to have Acquisition Sub fully assume and be liable for any Dagger Obligations that were inadvertently retained by Arrow. 

Prior to the first anniversary of the Closing Date, if either Crossbow or Acquisition Sub shall determine that an asset or liability of the 
Business was inappropriately included in or excluded from the definition of either the Dagger Assets or the Dagger Obligations, the 
party that makes such determination shall so advise the other party and Crossbow and Acquisition Sub shall in good faith endeavor to 
reach agreement with respect to such asset or liability.  

   
If a dispute arises under this Section 2.7, then within three (3) business days after a written request by either party, Federal’s President 
and Crossbow’s President of U.S. Operations shall promptly confer to resolve the dispute. If such persons cannot resolve such dispute, 
or either one of them determines that they are not making reasonable progress toward resolution of the dispute within the five (5) 
business day period immediately following the delivery of the written notice described above, then such dispute shall be settled by 
arbitration in the City of New York in  



accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association by a single arbitrator, who shall be an attorney expert in the area of 
mergers and acquisitions, selected by Crossbow and Acquisition Sub (or, if the parties are unable to agree on the arbitrator within five 
(5) business days of commencing arbitration, such an expert selected by the Association). Judgment upon the award rendered under any 
such arbitration may be entered in any Court having jurisdiction thereof.  

   

   
2.8 Adjustment to Purchase Price 

   

  

2.8.1 Preparation of Closing Balance Sheet . As soon as reasonably practicable after the Closing Date (but not later than 60 days 
thereafter), Arrow shall prepare or cause to be prepared and shall deliver to Acquisition Sub a Closing Balance Sheet for the 
Business as of the opening of business on the Closing Date (the “ Closing Balance Sheet ”). The Closing Balance Sheet shall 
be prepared in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“  GAAP ” ). 

   

  

2.8.2 Review of Closing Balance Sheet . Acquisition Sub, upon receipt of the Closing Balance Sheet, shall (a) review the Closing 
Balance Sheet and (b) to the extent Acquisition Sub may deem necessary, make reasonable inquiry of Arrow and its 
accountants, relating to the preparation of the Closing Balance Sheet. Acquisition Sub and its employees and advisors shall 
have full access upon prior written notice and during normal business hours to the books, papers and records of Arrow and its 
accountants (if any are used), relating to the preparation of the Closing Balance Sheet in connection with such inquiry and the 
preparation of any objections thereto (“ Objections ”). The Closing Balance Sheet shall be binding and conclusive upon, and 
deemed accepted by, Acquisition Sub unless Acquisition Sub shall have notified Arrow in writing of any Objections thereto 
within 30 days after receipt of the Closing Balance Sheet. Acquisition Sub shall make the Dagger Employees and books and 
records of the Business available to Arrow as necessary for Arrow to prepare the Closing Balance Sheet. 

  

2.8.3 Disputes . In the event of Objections, Arrow shall have 20 days to review and respond to such Objections, and Acquisition 
Sub and Arrow shall attempt to resolve the differences underlying such Objections within 20 days following completion of 
Arrow’s review of such Objections. Disputes between Acquisition Sub and Arrow which cannot be resolved by them within 
such 20-day period shall be referred no later than such 20th day for decision to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or to a 
nationally recognized independent public accounting firm mutually selected by the Acquisition Sub and Arrow 



(the “ Auditor ”) (which firm shall not be any of (a) the independent public accountants of Parent, Federal and Acquisition 
Sub, (b) the independent public accountants used by Arrow prior to the Closing Date and (c) the independent public 
accountants of Crossbow), who shall act as arbitrator and determine, based solely on presentations by Acquisition Sub and 
Arrow and only with respect to the remaining differences so submitted, whether and to what extent, if any, the Closing 
Balance Sheet requires adjustment. The Auditor shall deliver its written determination to Acquisition Sub and Arrow no later 
than the 30th day after the remaining differences underlying such Objections are referred to the Auditor, or such longer period 
of time as the Auditor reasonably determines is necessary. The Auditor’s determination shall be conclusive and binding upon 
the parties. The fees and disbursements of the Auditor shall be allocated equally between Acquisition Sub and Arrow. 
Acquisition Sub and Arrow shall make readily available to the Auditor all relevant information, books and records and any 
work papers relating to the Closing Balance Sheet and all other items reasonably requested by the Auditor. In no event may 
the Auditor’s resolution of any difference be for an amount which is outside the range of Acquisition Sub’s and Arrow’s 
disagreement.  

   

   

  

2.8.4 Final Closing Balance Sheet . The Closing Balance Sheet shall become final and binding upon the parties upon the earliest 
of (a) Acquisition Sub’s failure to object thereto within the period permitted under Section 2.8.2, (b) the agreement between 
Acquisition Sub and Arrow with respect thereto and (c) the decision by the Auditor with respect to any disputes under Section 
2.8.3. The Closing Balance Sheet, as adjusted pursuant to the agreement of the parties or decision of the Auditor, when final 
and binding is referred to herein as the “  Final Closing Balance Sheet .”  

  

2.8.5 Adjustments to the Purchase Price . As soon as practicable (but not more than five business days) after the date on which 
the Final Closing Balance Sheet shall have been determined in accordance with this Section 2.8, (a) Arrow shall pay to 
Acquisition Sub in immediately available funds the amount, if any, by which the Net Tangible Asset Value on the Final 
Closing Balance Sheet is less than $50,000,000 (Fifty Million Dollars), or (b) Acquisition Sub shall pay to Arrow in 
immediately available funds the amount, if any, by which the Net Tangible Asset Value on the Final Closing Balance Sheet is 
greater than $60,000,000 (Sixty Million Dollars); provided , that no payment made pursuant to this Section 2.8.5 shall exceed 
the amount of $10,000,000 (Ten Million Dollars). Any payment made pursuant to this Section 2.8.5 shall constitute an 
immediate adjustment of the Purchase Price in such amount. For the avoidance of doubt, the existence or possible existence of 
any adjustment to the Purchase Price, Objection, pendency or resolution of any dispute pursuant to this Section 2.8 or any 
issue pertaining to 



the Closing Balance Sheet shall not in any way impact, hinder, prevent or otherwise delay Crossbow’s obligation to 
consummate the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement.  

   
Article 3  

Representations And Warranties of Arrow  
   
Arrow represents and warrants to Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub as set forth in Appendix A , subject to those exceptions disclosed in 
writing in the disclosure schedules supplied by Arrow to the Parent on or before the date hereof, and certified by a duly authorized officer of 
Arrow (the “ Arrow Disclosure Schedule ”). For purposes of the representations and warranties of Arrow contained herein, each exception set 
forth in the Arrow Disclosure Schedule and each other response to this Agreement set forth in the Arrow Disclosure Schedule is identified by 
reference to, or has been grouped under a heading referring to, a specific individual section of this Agreement, and disclosure in any section of 
the Arrow Disclosure Schedule of any facts or circumstances shall be deemed to be adequate response and disclosure of such facts or 
circumstances with respect to all representations and warranties by Arrow calling for disclosure of such information if it is reasonably apparent 
on the face of the Arrow Disclosure Schedules that such disclosure is applicable; provided, however, that Arrow represents and warrants that it 
has made a good faith effort to include cross-references to other portions thereof where applicable. Arrow has not made and is not making any 
disclosures of classified information except to Parent personnel with proper security clearances. The inclusion of any information in any section 
of the Arrow Disclosure Schedule or other document delivered by Arrow pursuant to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be an admission or 
evidence of the materiality of such item, nor shall it establish a standard of materiality for any purpose whatsoever. All references in Appendix A 
to a Schedule not otherwise provided for in this Agreement shall be a reference to the comparable section of the Arrow Disclosure Schedule.  
   

Article 4  
Representations And Warranties of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub  

   
Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to Arrow as set forth in Appendix B .  
   

Article 5  
Conduct Prior To The Closing Date  

   
5.1 Conduct of Business of Arrow . During the period from the date hereof and continuing until the earlier of (x) the termination of this 

Agreement pursuant to its terms or (y) the Closing Date, Arrow shall, and shall cause each of the Dagger Subsidiaries to, except as 
otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement or to the extent that the Parent shall otherwise consent in writing, carry on its 
business in the usual, regular and ordinary course, in substantially the same manner as heretofore conducted, and use all 



commercially reasonable efforts consistent with past practices and policies to (i) preserve intact its present business organization and workforce 
used in the Business; and (ii) preserve its relationships with the Business’ customers, suppliers, licensors, licensees, and others with which it has 
business dealings in the Business. In addition, without limiting the generality of Section 5.1, except as permitted by the terms of this Agreement, 
and except as provided in Schedule 5.1 , without the prior written consent of the Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed), during the period from the date hereof and continuing until the earlier of (x) the termination of this Agreement pursuant 
to its terms or (y) the Closing Date, Arrow shall not do, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to:  
   

   

  

(a) take any action or make any omission that would require the consent of Crossbow under clauses (i) to (xix), inclusive, of 
Section 5.1(b) of the Merger Agreement, it being understood that such clauses shall be applicable herein, for the benefit of 
Parent, to the same extent as if fully set forth herein, it being further understood that, unless the context otherwise requires, 
capitalized terms used in such clauses but not defined therein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the 
Merger Agreement, and cross-references used in such clauses shall be to the referenced sections of the Merger Agreement; 

   

  

(b) pay, discharge or satisfy any claim, obligation or Liability in excess of $200,000 in any one case, other than the payment, 
discharge or satisfaction in the ordinary course of business of obligations reflected on or reserved against in the Dagger 
Balance Sheet, or incurred since the date of the Dagger Balance Sheet in the ordinary course of business consistent with past 
practices or in connection with this transaction; 

   

  

(c) dispose of, permit to lapse, or otherwise fail to preserve its rights to use the Dagger Proprietary Rights (as defined in the 
Intellectual Property Agreement; hereinafter the “ Dagger Proprietary Rights ”) or enter into any settlement regarding the 
breach or infringement of, any Dagger Proprietary Rights, or modify any existing rights with respect thereto, other than in the 
ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, and other than any such disposal, lapse, failure, settlement or 
modification that does not have and could not reasonably be expected to have a Dagger Material Adverse Effect or would 
affect the accuracy, as of time (past, present or future) of the representations set forth in the Intellectual Property Agreement, 
other than as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement; 

  (d) sell, or grant any right to exclusive use of, all or any part of the Dagger Proprietary Rights; 



   

  
(e) enter into any contract or commitment or take any other action that is not in the ordinary course of its business or could 

reasonably be expected to have an adverse impact on the transactions contemplated hereunder or that would have or could 
reasonably be expected to have a Dagger Material Adverse Effect; 

   

  
(f) amend in any material respect any agreement to which it is a party, the amendment of which will have or could reasonably be 

expected to have a Dagger Material Adverse Effect; 

   

  
(g) waive, release, transfer or permit to lapse any claim or right (i) that has a value, or involves payment or receipt by it, of more 

than $200,000 (except in the ordinary course of business and insofar as the foregoing relate to the Business) or (ii) the waiver, 
release, transfer or lapse of which would have or could reasonably be expected to have a Dagger Material Adverse Effect; 

   

  
(h) enter into agreements with third party integrators to assist Arrow with implementation of Arrow proprietary software except 

to the extent terminable on less than 30 days’  notice without cost; 

   

  

(i) except in the ordinary course of business and insofar as the following relates to the Business, pay, discharge or satisfy any 
claims, obligations or Liabilities; waive, release, transfer or permit to lapse any claims or rights; or make any loans, advances 
or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person (other than as permitted pursuant to Section 5.1(b)(x)(A) or (B) 
of the Merger Agreement), where the amount of such claims, rights, obligations, Liabilities, loans, advances, capital 
contributions and investments in the aggregate exceeds $2,000,000; or 

   
  (j) agree, whether in writing or otherwise, to take any action described in this Section 5.1. 

5.2 Conduct of Business of Parent . Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date or the date, if any, on which this Agreement 
is earlier terminated pursuant to its terms, none of Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub shall, except to the extent that Arrow shall 
otherwise consent in writing (such consent not to be 



unreasonably withheld), take any action that would materially impair Acquisition Sub’s ability to pay the Purchase Price or otherwise to 
perform its obligations under this Agreement. Further, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date or the date, if any, on 
which this Agreement is earlier terminated pursuant to its terms, Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub shall, except to the extent that 
Arrow shall otherwise consent in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld) promptly notify Arrow of any event, 
occurrence, act or omission that would, individually or in the aggregate, prevent, or materially hinder or delay, the Closing.  

   
Article 6  

Additional Agreements  
   

   
6.1 Non-Solicitation and Superior Proposals 

   

  
6.1.1 Superior Offers . Arrow shall comply with the terms and conditions of Section 6.1 of the Merger Agreement and shall 

provide Parent copies of any notice sent by Arrow to Crossbow pursuant to Section 6.1 of the Merger Agreement. 

  

6.1.2 No Solicitation . Each of Crossbow and Parent agrees that prior to the one-year anniversary of the date hereof, neither it nor 
any of its Subsidiaries nor any of their respective officers, directors, advisors, agents, accountants, consultants, employees, 
investment bankers and legal counsel (collectively, “ Representatives ”) shall directly or indirectly: (i) solicit, initiate, or 
knowingly encourage, facilitate or induce any inquiry with respect to, or the making, submission or announcement of, any 
acquisition proposal to purchase all or substantially all of the Business or the business and operations being acquired by 
Crossbow and Merger Sub, as the case may be; (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any 
Person any nonpublic information with respect to, or take any other action to facilitate any inquiries or the making of any 
proposal that constitutes or may reasonably be expected to lead to, any such acquisition proposal; (iii) engage in discussions 
with any Person with respect to any such acquisition proposal, except as to the existence of these provisions; (iv) approve, 
endorse or recommend any such acquisition proposal; or (v) enter into any letter of intent or similar document or any contract 
agreement or commitment contemplating or otherwise relating to any acquisition proposal or any transaction contemplated 
thereby. Crossbow or Parent, as the case may be, shall immediately terminate, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries and its 
and their Representatives to immediately terminate, all activities, discussions or negotiations, if any, with any third party with 
respect to, or any that could reasonably be expected to lead to or contemplate the possibility of, an acquisition proposal. 
Crossbow or 



Parent, as the case may be, shall promptly request that each person which has heretofore executed a confidentiality agreement 
with Crossbow or Parent, as the case may be, or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries or any of its or their Representatives with 
respect to such Person’s consideration of a possible acquisition proposal to promptly return or destroy (which destruction 
Crossbow or Parent, as the case may be, shall request be certified in writing by such person) all confidential information 
heretofore furnished by Crossbow or Parent, as the case may be, or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries or any of its or their 
Representatives to such person or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries or any of its or their Representatives.  

   

   

6.2 Transition of Employees and Consultants . Within five (5) days prior to Closing, Arrow shall provide an updated Employee List, 
containing the name of each employee of the Business, and each person’s level title, role, starting date, annual salary and target bonus, 
together with a listing of the level of security clearance for such employees. Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub or one of their Affiliates 
shall offer to employ or retain as a consultant effective as of 12:00 A.M. on the date immediately following the Closing Date each 
Dagger Employee and each Dagger Consultant employed by (or providing consulting to) Arrow as of the Closing Date. Arrow shall 
cooperate with Parent to facilitate meetings (to occur at mutually agreed upon times and locations) between (a) Dagger Employees and 
Dagger Consultants and (b) representatives of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub, so as to permit Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub 
to discuss with such Dagger Employees and Dagger Consultants employment or a consulting relationship, as the case may be, with 
Acquisition Sub, Federal, Parent, a Dagger Subsidiary or one of their Affiliates (the “ Acquisition Group ”) as well as other matters 
relating to planning for the post-Closing integration of the Business into the Acquisition Group. Subject to applicable Legal 
Requirements, Arrow shall make a good faith effort to encourage the Dagger Employees and the Dagger Consultants to accept 
employment or a consulting relationship, as the case may be, with the Acquisition Group, and, as of 11:59 p.m. on the Closing Date, 
shall terminate the employment or consulting relationship of all Dagger Employees and Dagger Consultants, as the case may be. All 
Dagger Employees and Dagger Consultants employed by (or providing consulting services to) a Dagger Subsidiary shall, subject to 
Section 6.2.2, retain their employment or consulting relationship with such Dagger Subsidiary immediately following the Closing Date. 

6.3 Expenses . Each party hereto shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses in connection with the Transaction, including fees and 
disbursements of consultants, brokers, finders, investment bankers and other financial advisors, counsel and accountants. 



   

6.4 Access and Information . The Dagger Companies shall afford to Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub and to a reasonable number of their 
respective officers, employees, accountants, counsel and other authorized representatives full and complete access as may be reasonably 
requested, upon reasonable advance telephone notice, during regular business hours, throughout the period prior to the earlier of the 
Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement pursuant to its terms, to the Dagger Companies’ offices, properties, books and 
records, and the Dagger Companies shall use reasonable efforts to cause their representatives and independent public accountants to 
furnish to Acquisition Sub such additional financial and operating data and other information as to their businesses, customers, vendors 
and properties as Acquisition Sub may from time to time reasonably request. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all visits to any office of 
any Dagger Company will be coordinated and conducted so as to not be disruptive to the operations of such Dagger Company and to 
preserve the confidentiality of the Transaction. In addition, Arrow will facilitate meetings between Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub 
and the Dagger Companies’ significant customers so as to permit Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub to discuss the announced 
Transaction with such customers. 

   

   

6.5 Public Disclosure . Immediately following the execution of this Agreement, Parent, Arrow and Crossbow each shall disseminate the 
press releases attached as Exhibit B . Except as otherwise required by law (including disclosures necessary or advisable to ensure 
compliance with applicable securities laws), no party hereto shall make any other public disclosure of information regarding the 
transactions contemplated herein prior to the Closing without the consent of each of Parent, Arrow and Crossbow, each of which 
consents shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The parties acknowledge that Parent and Crossbow have previously executed a 
Confidentiality Agreement dated as of December 16, 2003 and that Parent and Arrow have previously executed a letter agreement 
regarding confidentiality dated January 7, 2004 (collectively, the “Confidentiality Agreements”), which Confidentiality Agreements 
shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their respective terms notwithstanding any termination or abandonment of this 
Agreement or the Merger. 

6.6 Further Assurances 

  

6.6.1 Generally . Subject to terms and conditions herein provided and to the fiduciary duties of the board of directors and officers 
or representatives of any party, each of the parties agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be 
taken, all action and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations 
to consummate and make effective this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. In case at any time any further 
action, including, 



without limitation, the obtaining of waivers and consents under any agreements, material contracts or leases and the execution 
and delivery of any licenses or sublicenses for any software, is necessary, proper or advisable to carry out the purposes of this 
Agreement, the proper officers and directors or representatives of each party to this Agreement are hereby directed and 
authorized to use commercially reasonable efforts to effectuate all required action, except to the extent that greater efforts are 
required pursuant to Section 6.12.  

   

   

  

6.6.2 Novation of Contracts; Subcontracting; Maintenance of Corporate Existence of Arrow . Each party agrees to use 
commercially reasonable efforts to effect the novation of, or change of name with respect to, each Dagger Government 
Contract that may require novation or a change of name under its terms or under applicable laws or regulations, and further 
agrees to provide all documentation necessary to effect each such novation or change of name, including all instruments, 
certifications, requests, legal opinions, audited financial statements, and other documents required by Part 42 of the Federal 
Acquisition Regulation to effect a novation of any contract with the United States Government. In particular and without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Arrow shall continue to communicate with responsible officers of the United States 
Government from time to time as may be appropriate and permissible, to request speedy action on any and all requests for 
consent to novation or change of name. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arrow makes no representation or warranty that any 
such novation of, or change of name with respect to, any Dagger Government Contract will in fact be obtained. 

With respect to each Dagger Government Contract that requires novation or a change of name, prior to such novation or 
change of name, Arrow will engage Acquisition Sub as subcontractor under such contract, agree to take all reasonable 
instruction from Acquisition Sub as Arrow’s conduct under such contract and promptly pay to Acquisition Sub the full 
amount of its receipts under such contract.  

   
Arrow shall not terminate its existence until all of the Government Contracts of the Dagger Companies have either terminated 
or duly transferred to Acquisition Sub.  

   

   
6.7 Tax Matters 

  
6.7.1 Allocation of Purchase Price . Acquisition Sub and Arrow agree that the Purchase Price and the liabilities of Arrow assumed 

by Acquisition Sub to which the Dagger Assets are subject (plus other relevant items) will be 



allocated to the Dagger Assets for all purposes (including Tax and financial accounting purposes) as shown on Schedule 6.7.1. 
Acquisition Sub and Arrow shall have prepared such allocation schedule in accordance with Code section 1060 and the 
Treasury regulations thereunder. Parent, Acquisition Sub and Arrow will file all Tax Returns (including amended returns and 
claims for refund) and information reports in a manner consistent with such allocation schedule.  

   

   

  

6.7.2 Responsibility for Filing Tax Returns for Periods through Closing Date . Arrow shall include the income of the Dagger 
Subsidiaries (including any deferred items triggered into income by Reg. 1.1502-13 and any excess loss account taken into 
income under Reg. 1.1502-19) on Arrow’s consolidated federal income Tax Returns for all periods through the Closing Date 
and pay any federal income Taxes attributable to such income. For all taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date, 
Arrow shall cause the Dagger Subsidiaries to join in Arrow’s consolidated federal income tax return and, in jurisdictions 
requiring separate reporting from Arrow, to file separate company state and local income tax returns. All such Tax Returns 
shall be prepared and filed in a manner consistent with prior practice, except as required by a change in applicable law. 

   

  

6.7.3 Audits . Arrow shall allow Parent and its counsel to participate, at Parent’s expense, in any audit of Arrow’s consolidated 
federal income Tax Returns to the extent that such returns related to any Dagger Subsidiary. Arrow shall not settle any such 
audit in a manner which would adversely affect any Dagger Subsidiary after the Closing Date without the prior written 
consent of Parent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld. 

   
  6.7.4 Cooperation on Tax Matters 

  

(a) Acquisition Sub and Arrow shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by any party, in 
connection with the filing of Tax Returns and any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes. Such 
cooperation shall include the retention and (upon another party’s request) the provision of records and information 
which are reasonably relevant to any such audit, litigation or other proceeding and making employees available on a 
mutually convenient basis, at no cost to any Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub, to provide additional information and 
explanation of any material provided hereunder. Arrow and Crossbow agree (i) to retain all books and records with 
respect to Tax matters pertinent to Arrow relating to any taxable period beginning 



before the Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of limitations (including any extensions thereof) of the 
respective taxable periods, and to abide by all record retention agreements entered into with any taxing authority, and 
(ii) to give Acquisition Sub reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such books 
and records and, if Acquisition Sub so requests, allow Acquisition Sub to take possession of such books and records.  

   

   

  

(b) Acquisition Sub and Arrow further agree, upon request, to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any 
certificate or other document from any governmental authority or any other Person as may be necessary to mitigate, 
reduce or eliminate any Tax that could be imposed (including, but not limited to, with respect to the transactions 
contemplated hereby). 

   

  
(c) Acquisition Sub and Arrow further agree, upon request, to provide any other party with all information that either 

party may be required to report pursuant to section 6043 of the Code and all Treasury Department Regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 

  

6.7.5 Certain Taxes . All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration (and any penalties or interest relating thereto) 
incurred in connection with this Agreement shall be paid by Parent when due, and all other Taxes and fees (and any penalties 
or interest relating thereto) shall be paid by Arrow or Crossbow when due. To the extent that Arrow and Crossbow are 
required by law to remit sales taxes to any Governmental Entity, Parent shall pay to Arrow or Crossbow all sales taxes (and 
any penalties or interest relating thereto) incurred in connection with this Agreement when due, which Arrow or Crossbow, as 
the case may be, shall remit timely to the appropriate Government Entities. Should any Government Entity adjust the sales tax 
(or any penalties or interest relating thereto) incurred in connection with this Agreement by any means, including by audit or 
assessment, Parent shall pay to Arrow or Crossbow such adjustment when due, which Arrow or Crossbow, as the case may 
be, shall remit to the appropriate Government Entities. Parent will, at its own expense, prepare and file all necessary Tax 
Returns and other documentation with respect to all such transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration taxes, and 
Crossbow and Arrow will, at their own expense, prepare and file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with 
respect to all other Taxes and fees, and, if required by applicable law, each party hereto will (and will cause its Affiliates to) 
join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation. 



   

6.8 Notification . From the date hereof until the Closing Date, Arrow shall promptly disclose to Parent and Acquisition Sub in writing any 
material changes or variances from the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 promptly upon discovery thereof, in the 
form of “Updated Schedules” delivered to Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub. From the date hereof until the Closing Date, Parent, 
Federal and Acquisition Sub shall promptly disclose to Arrow in writing any material variances from Parent’s, Federal’s and 
Acquisition Sub’s representations and warranties contained in Article 4. 

   

6.9 Accounts Receivable . Effective as of the Closing, Arrow hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints Acquisition Sub its true and 
lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, in its name, place and stead to endorse the name of Arrow on any checks and 
other remittances received on account of the Dagger Receivables and the Dagger Work-In-Process and to perform all other acts 
necessary or desirable to bill and collect the Dagger Receivables and amounts received with respect to the Dagger Work-In-Process for 
the account of Acquisition Sub. Arrow agrees that it shall, forthwith after receipt after the Closing, transfer and deliver to Acquisition 
Sub any cash or other property that Arrow may receive in respect of such Dagger Receivables or on account of the Dagger Work-In-
Process, and any mail, checks or other documents received by Arrow relating to any of the Dagger Assets or Dagger Obligations 
transferred to Acquisition Sub hereunder, such cash, property, mail, checks and documents to be delivered in the form and condition in 
which received, except for the opening of any envelope or package. Arrow shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist 
Acquisition Sub in the collection of the Dagger Receivables and all amounts receivable on account of the Dagger Work-In-Process after 
the Closing to the extent requested by Acquisition Sub to do so. 

   

6.10 Preservation of Goodwill . To the extent required by this Agreement, Arrow shall aid Acquisition Sub in its assumption of ownership 
and operation of the Business and, in connection therewith, shall endeavor in good faith to maintain its goodwill and reputation (and the 
goodwill and reputation of the Dagger Subsidiaries) with the suppliers, clients and creditors of the Dagger Companies and any others 
having business relations with them and in the business community generally. 

6.11 Assistance in Preparation of Financial Statements . It being understood that Parent shall be required to make disclosures following 
the Closing on Form 8-K pursuant to Item 7 thereof, Crossbow and Arrow shall provide Parent and its independent auditors reasonable 
access during normal business hours to their respective facilities and employees as Parent and its auditors reasonably request in advance 
in connection with their preparation and review of audited historical financial statements for the Business. 



   
6.12 Regulatory Filings and Consents; Best Efforts 

   

  

6.12.1 Regulatory Filings . Each of the parties hereto shall coordinate and cooperate with one another and shall each use best efforts 
to comply with, and shall each refrain from taking any action that would impede compliance with, all Legal Requirements, 
and, as promptly as practicable after the date hereof, each of the parties hereto shall make all filings, notices, petitions, 
statements, registrations, submissions of information, application or submission of other documents required by any 
Governmental Entity in connection with the Transaction and the transactions contemplated hereby, as well as the Merger and 
the transactions contemplated in connection therewith, including, without limitation: (a) Notification and Report Forms with 
the United States Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice as required 
by the HSR Act (it being understood that Parent shall bear the full cost of the fees relating to such filing), with the Committee 
on Foreign Investment in the United States as may be deemed appropriate under the Exon-Florio Amendment to Section 721 
of the Defense Production Act of 1950, (b) any other filing or registration necessary to obtain any material consent, 
authorization or approval or otherwise required or advisable to consummate the Transaction or any of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, or the Merger or any of the transactions contemplated in connection therewith, (c) filings under any 
other comparable pre-merger notification forms required by the merger notification or control laws of any applicable 
jurisdiction, as agreed by the parties hereto, and (d) any filings required under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any 
applicable state or securities or “blue sky” laws and the securities laws of any foreign country, or any other Legal 
Requirement relating to the Transaction. Each party shall cause all documents that it is responsible for filing with any 
Governmental Entity under this Section 6.12.1 to comply in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements. 

  

6.12.2 Exchange of Information . Each of the parties hereto shall promptly supply the others with any information which may be 
required in order to effectuate any filings or application pursuant to Section 6.12.1.Except where prohibited by applicable 
Legal Requirements, and subject to the Confidentiality Agreements, each of the parties hereto shall consult with the other 
parties hereto prior to taking a position with respect to any such filing, shall permit the other to review and discuss in advance, 
and consider in good faith the views of the other in connection with any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, 
briefs, white papers, arguments, opinions and proposals before making or submitting any of the foregoing to any 
Governmental Entity by or on behalf of any party hereto in connection with any investigations or proceedings in connection 
with this Agreement or the 



transactions contemplated hereby, or the Merger or any of the transactions contemplated in connection therewith (including 
under any antitrust or fair trade Legal Requirement), coordinate with the other in preparing and exchanging such information 
and promptly provide the other (and its counsel) with copies of all filings, presentations or submissions (and a summary of 
any oral presentations) made by such party with any Governmental Entity in connection with this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereby, or the Merger or any of the transactions contemplated in connection therewith; provided , 
that with respect to any such filing, presentation or submission, no party need supply the other (or its counsel) with copies (or 
in case of oral presentations, a summary) to the extent that applicable Legal Requirements require such party to restrict or 
prohibit access to any such properties or information.  

   

   

  

6.12.3 Notification . Each of the parties hereto will notify the other promptly upon the receipt of: (a) any comments from any 
officials of any Governmental Entity in connection with any filings made pursuant hereto and (b) any request by any officials 
of any Governmental Entity for amendments or supplements to any filings made pursuant to, or information provided to 
comply in all material respects with, any applicable Legal Requirement. Whenever any event occurs that is required to be set 
forth in an amendment or supplement to any filing made pursuant to Section 6.12.1 the Parent, the Acquisition Sub or Arrow, 
as the case may be, will promptly inform the other of such occurrence and cooperate in filing with the applicable 
Governmental Entity such amendment or supplement. 

  

6.12.4 Best Efforts . Each of the parties agrees to use best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be 
done, and to assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and 
make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the Transaction and the transactions contemplated hereby, as well 
as the Merger and the transactions contemplated in connection therewith, including using best efforts to accomplish the 
following: (a) the taking of all reasonable acts necessary to cause the conditions set forth in Article 7 to be satisfied; (b) the 
obtaining of all necessary actions or nonactions, waivers, consents, approvals, orders and authorizations from Governmental 
Entities and the making of all necessary registrations, declarations and filings with Governmental Entities, if any, and the 
taking of all reasonable steps as may be necessary to avoid any suit, claim, action, investigation or proceeding by any 
Governmental Entity; (c) the obtaining of all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from third parties to the extent the 
failure to obtain any such consent, approval or waiver would prevent or materially hinder or delay any party’s ability to 
consummate the Transaction or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or the Merger or any of the transactions 
contemplated in connection 



therewith; (d) the defending of any suits, claims, actions, investigations or proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, 
challenging this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including seeking to have any stay 
or temporary restraining order entered by any court or other Governmental Entity vacated or reversed (it being understood 
that the costs of such defense shall be borne equally by Parent and Arrow); and (e) the execution or delivery of any additional 
instruments necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by, and to fully carry out the purposes of, this 
Agreement.  

   

   
Article 7  

Conditions Precedent  
   

   

  

6.12.5 Limitation on Divestiture . Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing contained in this Agreement 
shall be deemed to require the Parent or Arrow or any Subsidiary or affiliate thereof to take or agree to take any Action of 
Divestiture. For purposes of this Agreement, an “ Action of Divestiture ” shall mean making proposals, executing or carrying 
out agreements or submitting to Legal Requirements providing for the license, sale or other disposition or holding separate 
(through the establishment of a trust or otherwise) of any assets or categories of assets that are material to the Parent and its 
Subsidiaries or to the Business, each taken as a whole, or the holding separate of stock or assets or imposing or seeking to 
impose any limitation on the ability of the Parent, Arrow or any of its Subsidiaries, to conduct their respective businesses or 
own such assets or to acquire, hold or exercise full rights of ownership of the Business except to the extent not material to the 
Parent and its Subsidiaries, or the Business, each taken as a whole. 

7.1 Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of Each Party . The obligations of the parties hereto to effect the Transaction shall be 
subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions, any of which conditions may be waived in writing prior 
to Closing by the party for whose benefit such condition is imposed: 

  

7.1.1 No Illegality; Consents . There shall not have been any action taken, and no statute, rule or regulation shall have been 
enacted, by any state, federal or other (including foreign) government agency, including under the HSR Act or the Exon-
Florio Amendment to Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950, since the date of this Agreement that would 
prohibit or materially restrict the Transaction or any other material transaction contemplated hereby. 



   

   

  

7.1.2 No Injunction . No injunction or restraining or other order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction that prohibits or 
materially restricts the consummation of the Transaction contemplated hereby shall be in effect (each party agreeing to use all 
reasonable efforts to have any injunction or other order immediately lifted), and no action or proceeding shall have been 
commenced or threatened in writing seeking any injunction or restraining or other order that seeks to prohibit, restrain, 
invalidate or set aside consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; provided , that to the extent a Governmental 
Entity is not a party to the suit, action or proceeding, Parent believes that such suit, action or proceeding has a reasonable 
likelihood of success. 

7.2 Conditions Precedent to Obligation of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub to Consummate the Transaction . The obligation of 
Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub to consummate the Transaction shall be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Closing of the 
following additional conditions, any of which conditions may be waived in writing by Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub prior to 
Closing: 

   

  

7.2.1 Representations and Warranties . (a) The representations and warranties of Arrow set forth in this Agreement and the 
representations and warranties of Arrow set forth in the Intellectual Property Agreement, taken as a whole, were true to the 
Knowledge of Arrow when made in all material respects, and (b) the representations and warranties of Arrow contained in 
Sections A1, A2, A3, and A23 of Appendix A shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date, with the 
same force and effect as if made on and as of the Closing Date; and Arrow shall have delivered to Parent a certificate to that 
effect, dated the Closing Date and signed on behalf of Arrow by each of the (a) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and (b) 
Chief Financial Officer of Arrow. 

   

  

7.2.2 Agreements and Covenants . Arrow shall have performed in all material respects all of its agreements and covenants set 
forth herein that are required to be performed at or prior to the Closing Date, such that Acquisition Sub’s ability to assume the 
Business as of the Closing date shall not be impaired in any material respect; and Arrow shall have delivered to Parent a 
certificate to that effect, dated as of the Closing Date and signed on behalf of Arrow by each of the (a) Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer and (b) Chief Financial Officer of Arrow. 

  
7.2.3 Certain Conditions to the Merger Agreement . None of the following shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement 

and be continuing such that consummation of the Transaction is impracticable: (a) any general suspension 



of trading in, or limitation on prices for, securities on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the New York Stock Exchange or the 
Nasdaq Stock Market, (b) a declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks in the 
United States or Canada (whether or not mandatory), (c) a material adverse change in or material disruption of conditions in 
the market for syndicated bank credit facilities that would materially impair the ability to syndicate loans by banks or other 
financial institutions, including any limitation (whether or not mandatory) by any Governmental Entity on the extension of 
credit generally by banks or other financial institutions in the United States or Canada, or (d) a commencement or, if already 
commenced, a material worsening, of a war, armed hostilities or other national or international calamity directly or indirectly 
involving the United States or Canada or any terrorist activities which materially and adversely affects (i) Crossbow, (ii) 
Arrow, or (iii) Parent and the Business, taken as a whole, or (e) changes in legal or regulatory conditions to the extent such 
changes have a material, adverse and disproportionate impact on Parent relative to other business entities engaged in 
substantially the same line or lines of business;  

   

   

  
7.2.4 Legal Opinions . Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub and Bank of America, N.A. shall have received an opinion from Arnold & 

Porter LLP, counsel to Arrow, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit C and an opinion from Richards, Layton & Finger, 
P.A., counsel to Arrow, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit D . 

   
  7.2.5 Ancillary Agreements . Each of the Ancillary Agreements shall have been duly executed by each party thereto. 

  

7.2.6 Closing Documents . Arrow shall have delivered to Parent the closing certificate described hereafter in this paragraph and 
such closing documents as the Parent shall reasonably request (other than additional opinions of counsel). The closing 
certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, duly executed by Arrow’s secretary, shall certify as to (a) the signing authority, 
incumbency and specimen signature of the signatories of this Agreement and other documents signed on behalf of Arrow in 
connection herewith, (b) the resolutions adopted by the board of directors of Arrow authorizing and approving the execution, 
delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other documents executed in connection herewith and the consummation 
of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and state that such resolutions have not been modified, amended, revoked 
or rescinded and remain in full force and effect, and (c) the charter documents and by-laws of Arrow. 



   

   

  
7.2.7 Material Adverse Effect . Arrow shall not have suffered a Dagger Material Adverse Effect since the date of this Agreement 

or, if not disclosed or reflected in any Schedule to this Agreement delivered on the date hereof, since the Balance Sheet Date. 

7.3 Conditions to Obligations of Arrow to Consummate the Transaction . The obligation of Arrow to consummate the Transaction shall 
be subject to the fulfillment at or prior to the Closing of the following additional conditions, any of which may be waived in writing by 
Arrow prior to Closing: 

   

  

7.3.1 Representations and Warranties . The representations and warranties of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub contained in 
Appendix B shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Closing Date, with the same force and effect as if 
made on and as of the Closing Date; and Parent shall have delivered to Arrow a certificate to that effect, dated the date of the 
Closing and signed on behalf of Parent by each of the (a) Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer and 
(b) Chief Financial Officer of Parent. 

   

  

7.3.2 Agreements and Covenants . Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub shall have performed in all material respects all of their 
agreements and covenants set forth herein that are required to be performed at or prior to the Closing Date; and Parent shall 
have delivered to Arrow a certificate to that effect, dated as of the Closing Date and signed on behalf of Parent by each of the 
(a) Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer and (b) Chief Financial Officer of Parent. 

  

7.3.3 Closing Documents . Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub shall have delivered to Arrow closing certificates of Parent, 
Federal and Acquisition Sub and such other closing documents as Arrow shall reasonably request (other than additional 
opinions of counsel). Each of the closing certificates of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub, dated as of the Closing Date, 
duly executed by the secretary of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub, respectively, shall certify as to (a) the signing 
authority, incumbency and specimen signature of the signatories of this Agreement and other documents signed on behalf of 
Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub in connection herewith, (b) the resolutions adopted by the board of directors of Parent, 
Federal and Acquisition Sub authorizing and approving the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the 
other documents executed in connection herewith and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby 
and state that such resolutions have not been modified, 



amended, revoked or rescinded and remain in full force and effect, and (c) the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of 
Parent, the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of Federal and the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of 
Acquisition Sub.  

   

   

  

7.3.4 Successful Acquisition . All Offer Conditions (as defined in the Merger Agreement) shall have been satisfied and/or waived, 
and Crossbow or its Merger Sub shall have, on or before Closing, taken up and become unconditionally obligated to pay for 
the shares of common stock of Arrow tendered to Crossbow or Merger Sub in the Offer (as defined in the Merger 
Agreement). 

   
Article 8  

Other Provisions  
   

   

  
7.3.5 Payment of Purchase Price . Parent shall have tendered the Purchase Price to Arrow pursuant to the provisions of Section 

2.4 hereof. 

8.1 Termination Events . This Agreement may be terminated and the Transaction abandoned at any time prior to the Closing Date: 

   
  (a) by mutual written consent of Parent, Arrow and Crossbow; 

  

(b) by Parent, if (i) the representations and warranties of Arrow set forth in this Agreement and the representations and 
warranties of Arrow set forth in the Intellectual Property Agreement, taken as a whole, were to the Knowledge of 
Arrow materially untrue when made, (ii) any representation or warranty of Arrow set forth in this Agreement shall 
have become untrue such that the condition set forth in Section 7.2.1(b) would be incapable of being satisfied by the 
Final Date; provided, that none of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub have breached any of their respective 
representations, warranties and obligations hereunder in any material respect; or (iii) there shall have been a breach 
by Arrow of any of its covenants or agreements hereunder such that the condition set forth in Section 7.2.2 would be 
incapable of being satisfied by the Final Date, and Arrow has not cured such breach within ten (10) business days 
after notice by Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub thereof; provided that none of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub 
have breached any of their respective representations, warranties and obligations hereunder in any material respect; 
and, provided, further, that no cure period shall be required for a breach which by its nature cannot be cured; 



   

  

(c) by Arrow, if (i) any representation or warranty of Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub set forth in this Agreement shall 
have been materially untrue when made (ii) any representation or warranty of Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub set 
forth in this Agreement shall have become untrue such that the condition set forth in Section 7.3.1 would be 
incapable of being satisfied by the Final Date; provided , that Arrow has not breached any of its representations, 
warranties and obligations hereunder in any material respect; or (iii) there shall have been a breach by Parent, Federal 
or Acquisition Sub of any of their respective covenants or agreements hereunder such that the condition set forth in 
Section 7.3.2 would be incapable of being satisfied by the Final Date, and Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub, as the 
case may be, has not cured such breach within ten (10) business days after notice by Arrow thereof; provided that 
Arrow has not breached any of its representations, warranties and obligations hereunder in any material respect; and, 
provided, further , that no cure period shall be required for a breach which by its nature cannot be cured; 

   

  

(d) by Arrow, if Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub shall have withdrawn, modified or amended in any material respect 
its approval of this Agreement or the Transaction, or taken any public position inconsistent with its approval; 
provided, that Arrow has not breached any of its representations, warranties and obligations hereunder in any 
material respect; 

   
  (e) by any party hereto, if the Merger Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with its terms; 

  

(f) by either Parent or Arrow if: (i) there shall be a final, non-appealable order of a federal or state court in effect 
preventing consummation of the Transaction; (ii) there shall be any final action taken, or any statute, rule, regulation 
or order enacted, promulgated or issued or deemed applicable to the Transaction by any Governmental Entity which 
would make consummation of the Transaction illegal or which would prohibit Parent’s, Federal’s, Acquisition Sub’s 
or any of their respective Subsidiaries’ or Affiliates’ ownership or operation of all or any portion of the Business, the 
Dagger Assets or the assets and properties of the Dagger Subsidiaries, or compel Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub or 



their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates to dispose of or hold separate all or any material portion of their businesses, 
taken as a whole, as a result of the Transaction; or  

   

   

   

  

(g) by either Parent or Arrow if the Transaction shall not have been consummated by the 75 th day following the 
commencement of the Offer (as defined in and pursuant to the Merger Agreement) (the “Final Date”); provided, that 
the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1(g) shall not be available to any party whose failure to 
fulfill any material obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Closing 
Date to occur on or before such date. 

8.2 Notice and Effect of Termination . Any termination of this Agreement under Section 8.1 above shall be effective immediately upon 
the delivery of written notice of the terminating party to the other parties hereto. In the event of the termination of this Agreement as 
provided in this Section 8.1, this Agreement shall be of no further force and effect, except that (a) Sections 6.3, 6.5 and this Article 8 
each shall survive the termination of this Agreement, and (b) nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any willful breach 
of this Agreement. No termination of this Agreement shall affect the obligations of the parties contained in the Confidentiality 
Agreements, all of which obligations shall survive termination of this Agreement in accordance with their terms. 

8.3 Break-up Fee . If Arrow pays a “break-up”  or similar fee to Crossbow, Crossbow shall immediately remit to Parent an amount equal to 
one-third of such fee. Crossbow hereby covenants with Parent that should Crossbow become entitled to receive a “break-up” or similar 
fee from Arrow, it will use its best efforts to collect such fee from Arrow, timely and in full. Parent shall be subrogated to Crossbow to 
the extent of one-third of any such fee to which Crossbow becomes entitled. In addition, if Crossbow becomes entitled under the Merger 
Agreement to reimbursement of expenses, Crossbow shall make payment to Parent as follows: (a) if Crossbow has expenses greater 
than $3,333,333, Crossbow shall promptly pay Parent’s expenses up to $1,666,667; and (b) if Crossbow has expenses of less than 
$3,333,333, Crossbow shall promptly pay Parent’s expenses up to the amount that is the difference between $5,000,000 and Crossbow’s 
expenses. For the purposes of this Section 8.3, “expenses” shall mean Crossbow’s and Parent’s documented out-of-pocket expenses 
(including attorneys’, accountants’, financial advisors’ fees and any fees incurred by Crossbow and Parent in connection with the 
Transaction and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including the filing of the Schedule TO and the 
Proxy/Information Statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the filing of (a) the Notification and Report Forms with 
the Federal 



Trade Commission and the Department of Justice under the HSR Act and the Defense Production Act and (b) the premerger notification 
and report forms required under the competition laws of Germany. Crossbow acknowledges that the agreements contained in this 
Section 8.3 are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that, without these agreements, Parent would 
not enter into this Agreement. Accordingly, if Crossbow fails to pay in a timely manner the amounts due pursuant to this Section 8.3, 
and, in order to obtain such payment, Parent makes a claim that results in a final judgment against Crossbow for the amounts set forth in 
this Section 8.3, Crossbow shall pay to Parent its reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) in 
connection with such suit, together with interest on the amounts set forth in this Section 8.3 at the base rate of Citibank N.A. in effect on 
the date such payment was required to be made plus 2%. Parent and Crossbow acknowledge and agree that payment of the fees and 
other amounts described in this Section 8.3 shall be in lieu of damages except in the event of willful breach.  

   

   

8.4 Notices . All notices and other communications hereunder to any party shall be contained in a written instrument addressed to such 
party at the address set forth below or such other address as may hereafter be designated in writing by the addressee to the addressor 
listing all parties and shall be deemed given (a) when delivered in person or duly sent by facsimile or electronic mail to a facsimile 
number or electronic mail address furnished by the addressee for the purpose of receiving notices and other communications or (b) two 
days after being duly sent by Federal Express or other recognized express courier service: 

To Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub:  
   

CACI International Inc  
1100 North Glebe Road  
Arlington, Virginia 22201  
Attention: Dr. J. P. London, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer  
Facsimile: (703) 522-6895  

   
with copies to:  

   
Jeffrey P. Elefante  
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary  
CACI International Inc  
1100 North Glebe Road  
Arlington, Virginia 22201  
Facsimile: (703) 841-2850  



and  
   

Dean F. Hanley  
Foley Hoag LLP  
155 Seaport Boulevard  
Boston, Massachusetts 02210  
Facsimile: (617) 832-7000  

   
To Arrow before the Closing:  

   
American Management Systems, Incorporated  
4050 Legato Road  
11 th Floor  
Fairfax, VA 22033  
Attention: Alfred T. Mockett, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  
Facsimile: (703) 267-8020  

   
with copies to:  

   
David R. Fontaine  
Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Chief Risk Officer and Secretary  
American Management Systems, Incorporated  
4050 Legato Road  
11 th Floor  
Fairfax, VA 22033  
Facsimile: (703) 267-7161  

   
and  

   
Kevin J. Lavin  
Arnold & Porter  
1600 Tysons Boulevard  
Suite 900  
McLean, Virginia 22102  
Facsimile: (703) 720-7399  

   
To Crossbow and Merger Sub, and after the Closing, Arrow:  

   
CGI Group Inc.  
1130 Sherbrooke Street West  
5th Floor  
Montréal, Québec H3A 2M8  
Attention: Serge Godin, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  
Facsimile: (514) 841-3294  



with a copy to:  
   

Jean-René Gauthier  
McCarthy Tétrault LLP  
Le Windsor  
1170 Peel Street  
5 th Floor  
Montréal, Québec H3B 4S8  
Facsimile: (514) 875-6246  

   

   

8.5 Entire Agreement; Amendment . Unless otherwise herein specifically provided, this Agreement and the documents and instruments 
and other agreements among the parties hereto as contemplated by or referred to herein (including the Ancillary Agreements) constitute 
the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all other prior agreements and 
understandings, both written and oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, exclusive of the Confidentiality 
Agreements. Each party hereto acknowledges that, in entering this Agreement and completing the transactions contemplated hereby, 
such party is not relying on any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement not expressly stated in this Agreement or in the 
agreements among the parties contemplated by or referred to herein (including the Ancillary Agreements). This Agreement, and such 
other agreements among the parties contemplated by or referred to herein (including the Ancillary Agreements) may not be amended, 
except in a writing, signed by all parties to this Agreement, whether or not such party to this Agreement is a party to such other 
agreement. Arrow may not waive any of its rights hereunder without the written consent of Crossbow, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed. No party hereto shall amend the Merger Agreement without the consent of Parent, which consent 
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

   

8.6 Assignability . This Agreement is not intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies 
hereunder, except as otherwise expressly provided herein. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations of the parties 
hereunder shall be assigned or delegated, whether by operation of law or otherwise, without the written consent of all parties hereto. 

   

8.7 Validity . The invalidity or unenforceability of any provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any 
other provisions of this Agreement, each of which shall remain in full force and effect. 

8.8 Specific Performance . The parties hereto acknowledge that damages alone may not adequately compensate a party for violation by 
another party of this Agreement. 



Accordingly, in addition to all other remedies that may be available hereunder or under applicable law, any party shall have the right to 
any equitable relief that may be appropriate to remedy a breach or threatened breach by any other party hereunder, including the right to 
enforce specifically the terms of this Agreement by obtaining injunctive relief in respect of any violation or non-performance hereof.  

   

   

8.9 Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
Delaware, without regard to its principles of conflicts of laws. 

   

8.10 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
agreement. Signed counterparts of this Agreement may be delivered by facsimile or other electronic transmission, and such facsimile or 
other electronically transmitted counterpart shall constitute an original for all purposes binding against the party who so delivers its 
counterpart; provided, however, that such party shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that original signed counterparts of this Agreement 
are delivered to all other parties by overnight courier service within 2 business days of the date of this Agreement. 

   

8.11 Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Covenants . The representations and warranties of Arrow, Parent, Federal and 
Acquisition Sub contained in this Agreement, or any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, shall terminate at the Closing, 
and only those covenants that by their express terms survive the Closing and this Article 8 shall survive Closing. 

   

8.12 No Third Party Beneficiaries . This Agreement will not confer any rights upon any Person other than the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

   
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]  

8.13 No Waiver . Unless otherwise specifically agreed in writing to the contrary; (i) the failure of any party at any time to require 
performance by the other of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect such party’s right thereafter to enforce the same; (ii) no 
waiver by any party of any default by any other shall be valid unless in writing and acknowledged by an authorized representative of the 
non-defaulting party, and no such waiver shall be taken or held to be a waiver by such party of any other preceding or subsequent 
default; and (iii) no extension of time granted by any party for the performance of any obligation or act by any other party shall be 
deemed to be an extension of time for the performance of any other obligation or act hereunder. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Asset Purchase Agreement under seal as of the date first above written.  
   

CACI International Inc 

By: 
  

/s/ J. P. London  

  

  

J. P. London  
Chairman of the Board,  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

   
CACI, INC. - FEDERAL  

By: 
  

/s/ J. P. London  

  

  

J. P. London  
Chairman of the Board,  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

   
Dagger Acquisition Corporation  

By: 
  

/s/ J. P. London  

  

  

J. P. London  
Chairman of the Board,  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

   
American Management Systems, Incorporated  

By: 
  

/s/ Alfred T. Mockett  

  

  

Alfred T. Mockett  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  



   
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]  

   
Appendix A  

   

   

CGI Group Inc. 

By: 
  

/s/ Serge Godin  

  

  

Serge Godin  
Chairman of the Board  
and Chief Executive Officer  

   
CGI Virginia Corporation  

By: 
  

/s/ Serge Godin  

  

  

Serge Godin  
Chairman of the Board  
and Chief Executive Officer  

A1 Corporate Status . Arrow is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware, with the requisite corporate power to own, operate and lease its properties and to carry on its business as now being 
conducted. Except as set forth on Schedule A1 , Arrow is duly qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation and is in 
good standing in all jurisdictions in which the character of the properties owned or held under lease by it or the nature of the business 
transacted by it makes qualification necessary, except where failure to be so qualified would be immaterial. Schedule A1 provides a list 
of the states and other jurisdictions in which (i) any Dagger Subsidiary is qualified to conduct business, (ii) any Dagger Facility is 
located or (iii) any Dagger Employee conducts business on behalf of the Business (excluding any conduct of business or performance of 
services at client locations). 

A2 Subsidiaries . R.M. Vredenburg & Co. and Karcher Group, Incorporated constitute all of Arrow’s Subsidiaries involved with the 
Business (each a “  Dagger Subsidiary ,”  and, collectively, the “  Dagger Subsidiaries ” ). Arrow owns all of the capital stock 



and other equity interests of the Dagger Subsidiaries, and the date on which Arrow acquired or organized each such entity is listed 
opposite the name of such entity on such schedule. There are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, conversion rights or other 
rights, securities, agreements or commitments obligating any Dagger Subsidiary to issue, sell or otherwise dispose of shares of its 
capital stock or other equity interests, or any securities or obligations convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, any shares of 
its capital stock or other equity interests. There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which any of Arrow or any 
Dagger Subsidiary (Arrow and each Dagger Subsidiary each individually a “ Dagger Company ,” and, collectively, the “ Dagger 
Companies ”) is a party with respect to the voting of the shares of the capital stock or other equity interests of any Dagger Subsidiary 
and no Dagger Subsidiary is a party to, or bound by, any outstanding restrictions, options or other obligations, agreements or 
commitments to sell, repurchase, redeem or acquire any of its securities. Except as set forth on Schedule A2 , each Dagger Subsidiary is 
duly qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in all jurisdictions in which the character of the 
properties owned or held under lease by it or the nature of the business transacted by it makes qualification necessary, except where 
failure to be so qualified would be immaterial.  

   

   
A3 Authority for Agreement; Noncontravention 

   

  

A3.1 Authority . Arrow has the corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby to the extent of its obligations hereunder. Arrow’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and its 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by its board of directors and no 
other corporate proceedings on its part are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement and the other agreements contemplated hereby have 
been duly executed and delivered by Arrow and constitute valid and binding obligations of Arrow, enforceable against Arrow 
in accordance with their respective terms, subject to the qualifications that enforcement of the rights and remedies created 
hereby and thereby is subject to (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other 
laws of general application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors, (b) general principles of equity (regardless of 
whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and (c) the availability of specific performance or 
other equitable or legal remedies specified herein. 

  
A3.2 No Conflict . Except as set forth on Schedule A3.2 , none of the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement and 

Ancillary Agreements, nor the 



consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby will (a) conflict with or result in a violation of any 
provision of the charter documents or by-laws of any Dagger Company or (b) with or without the giving of notice or the lapse 
of time, or both, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or constitute a default under, or result in any right to 
accelerate or result in the creation of any Security Interest pursuant to, or right of termination under, any provision of any 
Dagger Material Contract or any contract listed on Schedule A16.1 (or to the Knowledge of Arrow, any other contract, note, 
mortgage, indenture, lease, instrument or other agreement), Permit, concession, grant, judgment, order, decree, statute, 
ordinance, rule or regulation to which any Dagger Company is a party (and in each case which creates or gives rise to a 
Dagger Obligation) or by which any of the Dagger Assets or the assets or properties of any Dagger Subsidiary are bound, or 
which is applicable to any Dagger Company, any Dagger Assets or any of the assets or properties of any Dagger Subsidiary. 
Except to the extent that novation is required as further described in Section 6.6.2 above, except for filings that may be 
required under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the “ HSR Act ”), the Exon-Florio 
Amendment to Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950 or the competition laws of Germany, except as set forth on 
Schedule A3.2 and except for such consents, authorizations, filings, approvals and registrations which if not obtained or made 
would be immaterial, no authorization, consent or approval of, or filing with or notice to, any United States or foreign 
governmental or public body or authority (each a “ Governmental Entity ”) is necessary for the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
A4 Financial Statements . Attached as Schedule A4 are a consolidated balance sheet for the Reported Business as of December 31, 2003 

and statement of operations for the year then ended. Collectively, the financial statements referred to in the immediately preceding 
sentence are sometimes referred to herein as the “ Dagger Financial Statements ” and the Reported Business’s balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2003 is referred to herein as the “ Dagger Balance Sheet .” The Dagger Balance Sheet (including any related notes) fairly 
presents in all material respects the Reported Business’s financial position as of its date, and the statement of operations included in the 
Dagger Financial Statements (including any related notes) fairly presents in all material respects the Reported Business’s results of 
operations for the period therein set forth, each having been prepared and compiled in accordance with GAAP, it being understood that 
the Dagger Financial Statements have been prepared on a pro forma basis, reflecting the separation of the Reported Business from 
Arrow. “ Reported Business ” means the “Defense and Intelligence Group” of Arrow (excluding any business performed in Canada by a 
Dagger Company) together with the business of the Dagger Subsidiaries (including any federal civilian, state and local engagements of 
such Dagger Subsidiaries) on a consolidated basis. To the Knowledge of Arrow, there are no significant deficiencies or material 



weaknesses in the design or operation of Arrow’s internal controls which could adversely affect Arrow’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial data relating to the Business. To the Knowledge of Arrow, there is no fraud relating to the Business, 
whether material or not, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Arrow’s internal controls.  

   

   

A5 Absence of Material Adverse Changes . Except as set forth on Schedule A5 , since December 31, 2003 (the “ Balance Sheet Date ”), 
Arrow has not suffered a Dagger Material Adverse Effect, and, to the Knowledge of Arrow, there has not occurred or arisen any event, 
condition or state of facts of any character that would reasonably be expected to result in a Dagger Material Adverse Effect. 

   

A6 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities . Except as set forth on Schedule A6 , the Reported Business has no Liabilities that are not fully 
reflected or provided for on, or disclosed in the notes to, the balance sheets included in the Dagger Financial Statements, except (a) 
Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the Balance Sheet Date, none of which individually or in the aggregate has 
had or could reasonably be expected to be material, (b) Liabilities permitted or contemplated by this Agreement, (c) Liabilities not 
within the Knowledge of Arrow that are not required to be disclosed by Arrow under GAAP, (d) Liabilities for future performance 
under contracts, and (e) Liabilities expressly disclosed on the Schedules delivered hereunder. 

A7 Compliance with Applicable Law, Charter and By-Laws . Each Dagger Company has all requisite licenses, permits and certificates 
from all Governmental Entities necessary to conduct the Business as currently conducted, and to own, lease and operate their respective 
properties used in the Business in the manner currently held and operated (collectively, “ Permits ”), except as set forth on Schedule A7 
and except for any Permits the absence of which, either singly or in the aggregate, is immaterial and would not reasonably be expected 
to have a material effect or prevent or materially delay the Closing. All of such Permits are in full force and effect. Each Dagger 
Company is in compliance in all material respects with the terms and conditions related to such Permits. There are no proceedings in 
progress, pending or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, threatened, which may result in revocation, cancellation, suspension, or any 
materially adverse modification of any of such Permits. The Business is not being, and has not been, conducted in violation of any 
applicable law, statute, ordinance, regulation, rule, judgment, decree, order, Permit, concession, grant or other authorization of any 
Governmental Entity. No Dagger Company is in default or violation of any provision of its charter documents or its by-laws where such 
default or violation is material. 



   

   

A8 Litigation and Proceedings . Except for any claim, action, suit or proceeding set forth on Schedule A8 , (a) there is no investigation by 
any Governmental Entity with respect to the Business pending or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, threatened, nor has any Governmental 
Entity notified any Dagger Company an intention to conduct the same; (b) there is no claim, action, suit, arbitration or proceeding 
pending or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, threatened against or involving any Dagger Company and involving the Business, any of the 
Dagger Assets or any of the assets or properties of any Dagger Subsidiary, at law or in equity, or before any arbitrator or Governmental 
Entity; and (c) there are no judgments, decrees, injunctions or orders of any Governmental Entity or arbitrator outstanding against any 
Dagger Company (i) affecting the Business, the Dagger Assets or the assets or properties of any Dagger Subsidiary or (ii) which create a 
Dagger Obligation in each case to the extent that the resolution of such dispute or claim will be binding on Acquisition Sub or a Dagger 
Subsidiary or give rise to a Dagger Obligation. 

A9 Tax Matters 

   

  

A9.1 Filing of Returns . Each Dagger Subsidiary has timely filed all Tax Returns that it was required to file, and Arrow has timely 
filed all Tax Returns with respect to the Business that it was required to file in each case taking into account all validly 
obtained extensions. All such Tax Returns were correct and complete in all material respects. All Taxes owed (whether or not 
shown on any Tax Return) by any Dagger Subsidiary, or by Arrow with respect to the Business, have been paid. To the extent 
that any Dagger Subsidiary has any Liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, 
local or foreign law) for Taxes due and payable by Arrow or any member of Arrow’s consolidated, combined, affiliated or 
unitary group, such Taxes have been paid. No Dagger Subsidiary is currently the beneficiary of any extension of time within 
which to file any Tax Return. No claim relating to the Business has ever been made by an authority in a jurisdiction where 
any Dagger Company does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction, which claims have 
not been resolved. There are no Security Interests on any of the Dagger Assets or on any assets of any Dagger Subsidiary that 
arose in connection with any failure (or alleged failure) to pay any Tax, other than Permitted Encumbrances. 

  
A9.2 Payment of Taxes . Each Dagger Subsidiary, and with respect to the Business, Arrow, has withheld and paid all Taxes 

required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, 
creditor, stockholder or other third party with respect to the Business. 



   

  

A9.3 Assessments or Disputes . To the Knowledge of Arrow, no Tax authority proposes to assess any additional Taxes upon any 
Dagger Subsidiary or upon Arrow with respect to the Business, in each case for any period for which Tax Returns have been 
filed. Except as described in written materials delivered to Acquisition Sub, there is no dispute or claim concerning any Tax 
Liability of any Dagger Subsidiary, or of Arrow with respect to the Business, either (a) claimed or raised in writing by any 
Tax authority or (b) to the Knowledge of Arrow, otherwise claimed or raised by any Tax authority, in each case to the extent 
that resolution of such dispute or claim will be binding upon Acquisition Sub or a Dagger Subsidiary after the Closing. Except 
to the extent otherwise described in written materials delivered to Acquisition Sub, Arrow has delivered to Acquisition Sub, 
or made available for review by Acquisition Sub, correct and complete copies of all income Tax Returns, examination reports 
and statements of deficiencies that were (i) filed by, assessed against or agreed to by or with respect to any Dagger Subsidiary 
and (ii) expressly included within a written due diligence request made by Acquisition Sub prior to the date hereof. 

   

  

A9.4 Waiver of Statute of Limitations . No Dagger Company has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes that relate 
to the Business or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency that relates to the Business, 
in each case to the extent that resolution of such assessment or deficiency will be binding upon Acquisition Sub or a Dagger 
Subsidiary after the Closing. 

  

A9.5 Collapsible Corporations, Golden Parachutes, Real Property Holding Corporations . No Dagger Subsidiary has filed a 
consent under Code section 341(f) concerning collapsible corporations. Except as set forth on Schedule A9.5 , no Dagger 
Subsidiary is a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted or would result, separately or in the 
aggregate, in the payment of (a) any “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code (or any 
corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Tax law) and (b) any amount that will not be fully deductible as a result of 
Section 162(m) of the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local, or foreign Tax law). No Dagger Subsidiary has 
been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Code section 897(c)(2) during the applicable 
period specified in Code section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii). No Dagger Subsidiary is a party to any Tax allocation or sharing agreement 
under which such Dagger Subsidiary will have any liability after the Closing. No Dagger Subsidiary (A) has been a member 
of an Affiliated Group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than a group the common parent of which was 
Arrow) or (B) has any Liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than a member of an Affiliated Group the common parent 
of 



which was Arrow) under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local, or foreign law). Prior 
to the applicable due date (including extensions), Arrow shall file a consolidated federal income tax return with the Dagger 
Subsidiaries, among other Persons, for the taxable year immediately preceding the current taxable year.  

   

   

  

A9.6 Unpaid Taxes . The unpaid Taxes of the Dagger Companies for which Acquisition Sub and/or the Dagger Subsidiaries shall 
be liable (a) did not, as of the date of the Dagger Balance Sheet, exceed the reserve for Tax liability (rather than any reserve 
for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) reflected in the Dagger Balance 
Sheet and (b) do not exceed that reserve as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in accordance with the 
past custom and practice of the Dagger Companies in filing their Tax Returns. 

   

  

A9.7 Unclaimed Property . No Dagger Company has any assets that may constitute unclaimed property under applicable law. The 
Dagger Companies have complied in all material respects with all applicable unclaimed property laws. Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the Dagger Companies have established and followed procedures to identify any unclaimed 
property and, to the extent required by applicable law, remit such unclaimed property to the applicable governmental 
authority. The records of the Dagger Companies are adequate to permit a governmental agency or authority or other outside 
auditor to confirm the foregoing representations. 

  

A9.8 No Changes in Accounting, Closing Agreement, Installment Sale . No Dagger Subsidiary will be required to include any 
item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) 
beginning after the Closing Date as a result of any (a) change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior 
to the Closing Date under Code section 481(c) (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign income Tax 
law), other than any such change required as a result of the transactions occurring at Closing pursuant to this Agreement; (b) 
“closing agreement” as described in Code section 7121 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign 
income Tax law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date; (c) deferred intercompany gain or any excess loss account 
described in Treasury Regulations under Code section 1502 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or 
foreign income Tax law); (d) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date; or (e) 
prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date. 



   

   

  
A9.9 Acquisitions . No Dagger Subsidiary has distributed stock of another Person, or has had its stock distributed by another 

Person in a transaction that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Code section 355 or Code section 
361. 

A10 Employee Benefit Plans 

   

  

A10.1 List of Plans/Plan Determinations . Schedule A10.1 contains a complete list of all of the Dagger Companies’  employee 
pension benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) which are intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the 
Code, exempt from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code and that cover Dagger Employees or Dagger Consultants (the 
“Pension Plans”). No Dagger Subsidiary currently maintains or sponsors any employee pension benefit plan intended to be 
qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code exempt from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code other than any such plan that is 
also maintained or sponsored by Arrow and one or more of its Subsidiaries (other than the Dagger Subsidiaries) and that will 
not be maintained or sponsored by any Dagger Subsidiary after the Closing Date. 

   

  

A10.2 Title IV of ERISA . No Dagger Company and none of their respective ERISA Affiliates has incurred any material liability 
under Title IV of ERISA which will not have been satisfied in full prior to the Closing; there is no “accumulated funding 
deficiency” (whether or not waived) with respect to any Pension Plan maintained by any Dagger Company or any of their 
respective ERISA Affiliates and subject to Code section 412 or ERISA Section 302; with respect to any Pension Plan 
maintained by any Dagger Company or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates and subject to Title IV of ERISA, there has 
been (a) no “reportable event,” within the meaning of ERISA Section 4043, or the regulations thereunder, and (b) no event or 
condition which presents a material risk of plan termination or any other event that may cause any Dagger Company or any of 
their respective ERISA Affiliates to incur liability or have a lien imposed on its assets under Title IV of ERISA; and no 
Pension Plan maintained by any Dagger Company or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates and subject to Title IV of 
ERISA will have any “unfunded benefit liabilities” within the meaning of ERISA Section 4001(a)(18), as of the Closing Date, 
and, without any additional contributions being made to such Plan, the assets of such Plan are sufficient to satisfy all 
obligations of the Plan if the Plan were to terminate. 

  A10.3 Multiemployer Plans . There has been no withdrawal by any Dagger 



Company or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates from any “multiemployer plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(37) 
of ERISA) within the six year period prior to the Closing Date as to which any liability arising therefrom has not been 
satisfied in full; and no Dagger Employees are covered by a multiemployer plan with respect to such employee’s employment 
in the Business.  

   

   
  A10.4 Dagger Subsidiaries’  Plans 

   

  

(a) Schedule A10.4(a) lists each material Employee Benefit Plan that (i) is sponsored, maintained, administered, 
contributed to or required to be contributed to by any of Dagger Subsidiaries or to which any of the Dagger 
Subsidiaries is a party, (ii) covers any current or former Dagger Employee, any director of any Dagger Subsidiary or 
any person formerly associated with the Business, and (iii) will continue to be sponsored, maintained or administered 
by a Dagger Subsidiary immediately following Closing (collectively, the “  Dagger Subsidiary Plans ” ). 

   

  

(b) Arrow has made available to Parent (i) accurate and complete copies of all Dagger Subsidiary Plan documents and all 
amendments thereto, and (if applicable) all current documents establishing or constituting any related trust, annuity 
contract, insurance contract or other funding instruments, and the most recent summary plan descriptions (if any) 
relating to such Dagger Subsidiary Plans, (ii) accurate and complete copies of the most recent financial statements 
and actuarial reports with respect to all Dagger Subsidiary Plans for which financial statements or actuarial reports 
are required or have been prepared, (iii) accurate and complete copies of all annual reports and summary annual 
reports for all Dagger Subsidiary Plans (for which annual reports are required) for the three most recent plan years, 
and (iv) its employee policies and procedures. Except as disclosed on Schedule A10.4(b) , none of the Dagger 
Subsidiaries maintains or contributes to any Dagger Subsidiary Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, nor does any 
Dagger Subsidiary have a current or contingent obligation to contribute to any multiemployer plan (as defined in 
Section 3(37) of ERISA). 

  

(c) None of the Dagger Subsidiaries nor any ERISA Affiliate thereof has engaged in or been a party to any “prohibited 
transaction” as defined in Section 4975 of the Code and Section 406 of ERISA that could subject any Dagger 
Subsidiary or any ERISA Affiliate thereof to any material tax or penalty on “prohibited transactions” imposed by 
Section 4975 of the Code. 



   

  
(d) Except as specifically provided in this Agreement or as set forth in Schedule A10.4(d) , no Dagger Employee will 

become entitled to any material bonus, severance or similar benefit (including acceleration of vesting or exercise of 
an incentive award) that is contingent upon the occurrence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

   

  

(e) To the Knowledge of Arrow, there are no pending or threatened actions, suits, proceedings, or claims against or 
relating to any Dagger Subsidiary Plans other than routine benefit claims by persons entitled to benefits thereunder, 
nor is any Dagger Subsidiary Plan the subject of any pending or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, threatened 
investigation or audit by the Internal Revenue Service, Department of Labor or the Pension Benefit Guaranty 
Corporation. 

   

  
(f) All employee contributions, including elective deferrals, to any Dagger Subsidiary’s 401(k) plan have been 

segregated from the Dagger Subsidiary’s general assets and deposited into the trust established pursuant to the 401(k) 
plan in a timely manner in accordance with the “plan asset”  regulations of the Department of Labor. 

  

(g) With respect to any Dagger Subsidiary Plan that is an employee welfare benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 
3(1) of ERISA (a “Welfare Plan”), (i) each Welfare Plan for which contributions are claimed by any Dagger 
Subsidiary as deductions under any provision of the Code is in material compliance with all applicable requirements 
pertaining to such deduction, (ii) with respect to any welfare benefit fund (within the meaning of Section 419 of the 
Code) related to a Welfare Plan, there is no disqualified benefit (within the meaning of Section 4976(b) of the Code) 
that would result in the imposition of a material tax under Section 4976(a) of the Code to any Dagger Subsidiary, and 
(iii) any Dagger Subsidiary Plan that is a group health plan (within the meaning of Section 4980B(g)(2) of the Code) 
materially complies with the applicable material requirements of COBRA, the Family and Medical Leave Act of 
1993, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, the Women’s Health and Cancer Rights Act 
of 1996, the Newborns’ and Mothers’ Health Protection Act of 1996, or any similar provisions of applicable state law 
applicable to employees of Arrow or any of its Subsidiaries. 



   

   

  

(h) Except as set forth on Schedule A10.4(h) , (i) none of the Dagger Subsidiary Plans promises or provides retiree 
medical or other retiree welfare benefits to any person except as required by applicable law, and neither Arrow nor 
any Dagger Subsidiary has represented, promised or contracted to provide such retiree benefits to any employee, 
former employee, director, consultant or other person, except to the extent required by applicable law, and (ii) no 
Dagger Subsidiary Plan or employment agreement provides health benefits that are not insured through an insurance 
contract. Each Dagger Subsidiary Plan is amendable and terminable unilaterally by the Dagger Subsidiary at any time 
subject to applicable Legal Requirements and no Dagger Subsidiary Plan, plan documentation or agreement, 
summary plan description or other written communication distributed generally to Dagger Employees by its terms 
prohibits the Dagger Subsidiary from amending or terminating any such Dagger Subsidiary Plan. 

A11 Employment-Related Matters 

  

A11.1 Labor Relations . Except to the extent set forth on Schedule A11.1 : (a) no Dagger Company is a party to any collective 
bargaining agreement or other contract or agreement with any labor organization or other representative of employees of any 
Dagger Company that relates to or affects the Business; (b) there is no labor strike, work stoppage or lockout that affects the 
Business and that is pending or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, threatened against or otherwise affecting any Dagger Company, 
and no Dagger Company has experienced the same; (c) no Dagger Company has closed any plant or facility, effectuated any 
layoffs of employees or implemented any early retirement or separation program since January 1, 2001 in a manner that 
would reasonably be expected to give rise to liability under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act that 
would be or become a Dagger Obligation, and no Dagger Subsidiary Company has planned or announced any such action or 
program for the future with respect to the Business; and (d) all salaries, wages and annual leave due from any Dagger 
Company Subsidiary with respect to the Business before the date hereof have been paid or accrued as of the date hereof to the 
extent required under GAAP. 



   
  A11.2 Employee and Consultant Lists 

   

  

(a) Arrow has heretofore delivered to Acquisition Sub a list (the “Employee List”) dated as of March 9, 2004 containing 
the name of each Dagger Employee, and each such person’s level title, role, starting date, annual salary, target bonus, 
together with a list of such employees and their respective level of security clearance. No third party has asserted to 
Arrow any claim that either the continued employment by, or association with, any Dagger Company of any of the 
present Dagger Employees is or would reasonably be expected to be material to the Business contravenes any 
agreement or law applicable to unfair competition, trade secrets or proprietary information 

   

   

   

  
(b) Schedule 1.3A provides a materially accurate and complete list of the Dagger Consultants used in the Business. To 

the Knowledge of Arrow, the Dagger Consultants identified on Schedule 1.3A qualify as “independent contractors” 
under applicable laws. 

  

A11.3 Conduct of Directors and Officers . To the Knowledge of Arrow, no Person who, as of the date hereof, is an officer of any 
Dagger Company employed in the Business or a director of any Dagger Subsidiary has been involved in any of the events 
described in Item 401(f) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act. For purposes of this Section A11.3, the “officer” shall 
have the meaning provided in Rule 16a-1(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

A12 Environmental 

  

A12.1 Environmental Laws . Except as would not give rise to a material Dagger Obligation and does not and will not otherwise 
materially affect the Business, any Dagger Asset or any asset or property of any Dagger Subsidiary, and except as set forth on 
Schedule A12.1 , (a) each Dagger Company is and has been in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws in effect 
on the date hereof; (b) no Dagger Company has received any written communication that alleges that it is or was not in 
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws in effect on the date hereof; (c) to the Knowledge of Arrow there are no 
circumstances that may prevent or interfere with compliance in the future with any applicable Environmental Laws; (d) all 
Permits and other governmental authorizations currently held by the Dagger Companies pursuant to the Environmental Laws 
are in full force and effect, and each Dagger Company is in material compliance with all of the terms of such Permits and 
authorizations, and no other Permits or authorizations required pursuant to the Environmental Laws are required by any 
Dagger 



Company for the conduct of the Business on the date hereof; (e) such Permits will not be terminated or impaired or become 
terminable, in whole or in part, solely as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby; (f) the management, handling, 
storage, transportation, treatment, and disposal by the Dagger Companies of all Materials of Environmental Concern is and 
has been in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws; and (g) there are no past or present actions or activities by 
any Dagger Company, or any circumstances, conditions, events or incidents, including the storage, treatment, release, 
emission, discharge, disposal or arrangement for disposal of any Material of Environmental Concern, whether or not by a 
Dagger Company, that would reasonably be expected to form the basis of any Environmental Claim against any Dagger 
Company or against any Person whose liability for any Environmental Claim any Dagger Company may have retained or 
assumed either contractually or by operation of law, including, without limitation, the storage, treatment, release, emission, 
discharge, disposal or arrangement for disposal of any Material of Environmental Concern or any other contamination or 
other hazardous condition, related to the premises at any time occupied by any Dagger Company.  

   

   

  

A12.2 Environmental Claims . Except as would not give rise to a material Dagger Obligation and does not and will not otherwise 
affect the Business, any Dagger Asset or any asset or property of any Dagger Subsidiary, and except as set forth on Schedule 
A12.2 , there is no Environmental Claim pending or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, threatened, against or involving any Dagger 
Company or against any Person whose liability for any Environmental Claim any Dagger Company has or may have retained 
or assumed either contractually or by operation of law. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except as set forth on 
Schedule A12.3 , no Dagger Company has received any notices, demands, requests for information, investigations pertaining 
to compliance with or liability under Environmental Law or Materials of Environmental Concern, nor, to the Knowledge of 
Arrow, are any such notices, demands, requests for information or investigations threatened, except as would not give rise to a 
Dagger Obligation and does not and will not otherwise affect the Business, any Dagger Asset or any asset or property of any 
Dagger Subsidiary. 

  

A12.3 Disclosure of Information . Except as would not give rise to a Dagger Obligation and does not and will not otherwise affect 
the Business, any Dagger Asset or any asset or property of any Dagger Subsidiary, each Dagger Company has made, and 
during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date will continue to make, available to Acquisition 
Sub all environmental investigations, studies, audits, tests, reviews and other analyses conducted in relation to Environmental 
Laws or Materials of Environmental Concern that are in the possession, custody, or 



control of any Dagger Company and pertain to any Dagger Company or any property or facility now or previously owned, 
leased or operated by any Dagger Company.  

   

   

   

   

  

A12.4 Liens . No lien imposed relating to or in connection with any Environmental Claim, Environmental Law, or Materials of 
Environmental Concern has been filed or has been attached to any of the property or assets which are owned, leased or 
operated by any Dagger Company, except as would not give rise to a Dagger Obligation and does not and will not otherwise 
affect the Business, any Dagger Asset or any asset or property of any Dagger Subsidiary. 

A13 No Undisclosed Broker’s or Finder’s Fees . Except as set forth on Schedule A13 , no Dagger Company has paid or become obligated 
to pay any fee or commission to any broker, finder, financial advisor or intermediary in connection with the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement. 

A14 Assets Other Than Real Property 

   

  

A14.1 Title . Good and marketable title to each of the tangible assets used or intended for use in the Business as it is presently 
conducted is held by a Dagger Company and such title is in each case free and clear of any Security Interest, other than 
Permitted Encumbrances, except for (a) assets disposed of since the date of the Dagger Balance Sheet in the ordinary course 
of business and in a manner consistent with past practices, (b) Liabilities, obligations and encumbrances reflected in the 
Dagger Balance Sheet or otherwise in the Dagger Financial Statements and (c) Liabilities, obligations and Security Interests 
set forth on Schedule A14.1 . Each tangible asset of any Dagger Company used or intended for use in the Reported Business 
that has or had a purchase price of $2,500 or more or that is otherwise material to the Reported Business is listed on Schedule 
2.1.8 . 

  

A14.2 Accounts Receivable . Except as set forth on Schedule A14.2 , all Dagger Receivables and all receivables shown on the 
Dagger Balance Sheet and all receivables accrued by any Dagger Company since the date of the Dagger Balance Sheet, have 
been collected or are collectible in all material respects in the aggregate amount shown, less any allowances for doubtful 
accounts reflected therein, and, in the case of receivables arising since the date of the Dagger Balance Sheet, any additional 
allowance in respect thereof is consistent with the allowance reflected in the Dagger Balance Sheet. Parent, Federal and 
Acquisition Sub hereby acknowledge that the foregoing representation does not constitute a guarantee of collection. 



   

   

  
A14.3 Condition . All Dagger Tangible Assets are in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and all 

such wear and tear taken in the aggregate is immaterial to the Business and does not affect the Business or affect Arrow’s 
obligation to perform under this Agreement 

A15 Real Property 

   
  A15.1 Dagger Real Property . No Dagger Company owns any real property used in the Business. 

   

  

A15.2 Dagger Leases . Complete copies of the Dagger Leases, and all material amendments thereto (which leases and amendments 
are identified on Schedule 2.1.4 ), have been made available by Arrow for inspection by Acquisition Sub. Except to the extent 
and as limited by the Dagger Leases, the Dagger Leases grant leasehold estates free and clear of all Security Interests (other 
than Permitted Encumbrances) and no Security Interest (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the Dagger Facilities 
have been granted by or caused by the actions of any Dagger Company. The Dagger Leases are in full force and effect and are 
binding and enforceable against the Dagger Company that is a party thereto, and to the Knowledge of Arrow, each of the 
other parties thereto in accordance with their respective terms subject to (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent 
conveyance, moratorium and other laws of general application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and (b) general 
principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). Except as set forth 
on Schedule A15.2 , neither any Dagger Company, nor, to the Knowledge of Arrow, any other party to any Dagger Lease, has 
committed a material breach or default under any Dagger Lease, nor has there occurred with respect to any Dagger Company, 
or, to the Knowledge of Arrow, any other party thereto, any event that with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both 
would constitute such a material breach or default. No material construction, alteration or other leasehold improvement work 
with respect to the Dagger Facilities covered by any Dagger Lease remains to be paid for or to be performed by any Dagger 
Company. 

  
A15.3 Condition. All buildings, structures, leasehold improvements and fixtures, or parts thereof included among the Dagger 

Facilities are to the Knowledge of Arrow in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted. 



   
A16 Agreements, Contracts and Commitments 

   

  

A16.1 Dagger Agreements . All Dagger Material Contracts and all other Dagger Engagements are listed on Schedule 2.1.1 . Other 
than the contracts listed on Schedule 2.1.1 or Schedule A16.1 , to the Knowledge of Arrow, there are no other contracts that 
(a) are materially necessary for the operation of the Business as currently conducted by any Dagger Company or (b) do or 
would materially restrict the operation of the Business as currently conducted by any Dagger Company (prior to the Closing) 
or Acquisition Sub and the Dagger Subsidiaries (after the Closing). 

   

   

  

A16.2 Validity . Except as set forth on Schedule A16.2 , all Dagger Material Contracts, all contracts listed on Schedule A16.1 , and 
to the Knowledge of Arrow, all other Dagger Engagements and Dagger Contracts, as well as all contracts to which any 
Dagger Subsidiary is a party, are valid and in full force and effect; neither any Dagger Company, nor to the Knowledge of 
Arrow, any other party thereto, has breached any provision of, or defaulted under the terms of any such Dagger Material 
Contract, Dagger Contract or Dagger Engagement, in any material respect, except where such breach or default has been 
cured or waived. 

A17 Employee Agreements . Except as set forth on Schedule A17 , each Dagger Employee has executed the AMS Employee 
Confidentiality and Intellectual Property Rights Agreement in substantially the forms attached as Exhibit E , and to the Knowledge of 
Arrow, no Dagger Employee or Dagger Consultant in the course of the performance of his or her duties to Arrow is in violation of any 
term of any employment or consulting contract, proprietary information and inventions agreement, non-competition agreement, or any 
other contract or agreement relating to the relationship of any such employee, officer or consultant with any Dagger Company or any 
previous employer. 

A18 Insurance Contracts . The Dagger Companies maintain for the benefit of the Business contracts of insurance and indemnity (the “ 
Dagger Insurance Contracts ”) that insure against such risks, and are in such amounts, as are appropriate and reasonable considering the 
nature and operations of the Business and the property related thereto. All of the Dagger Insurance Contracts are in full force and effect, 
with no default thereunder by any Dagger Company which could permit the insurer to deny payment of claims thereunder. All 
premiums due and payable thereon have 



been paid and no Dagger Company has received notice from any of its insurance carriers that any insurance premiums will be materially 
increased in the future or that any insurance coverage provided under any of the Dagger Insurance Contracts will not be available in the 
future on substantially the same terms as now in effect. No Dagger Company has received or given a notice of cancellation with respect 
to any of the Dagger Insurance Contracts.  

   

   

A19 Banking Relationships . Schedule A19 shows the names and locations of all banks and trust companies in which any Dagger 
Subsidiary has accounts, lines of credit or safety deposit boxes or Arrow has accounts in each case where associated exclusively with 
Dagger Engagements, and, with respect to each such account, line of credit or safety deposit box, the names of all Persons authorized to 
draw thereon or to have access thereto, as well as the account and other numbers of designation thereof. 

   

A20 Absence of Certain Relationships . Except as set forth on Schedule A20 , none of (a) any Dagger Company, (b) any officer of any 
Dagger Company, or (c) any member of the immediate family of any Person listed in clause (b) of this sentence, has any financial or 
employment interest in any subcontractor, supplier, or customer of any Dagger Company (other than holdings in publicly held 
companies of less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding capital stock of any such publicly held company) relating to the Business. 

   

   

A21 Foreign Corrupt Practices . No Dagger Company nor any of their respective officers, directors, agents, employees or other Persons 
acting on behalf of any Dagger Company has, in the conduct of the Business, used any corporate or other funds for unlawful 
contributions, payments, gifts or entertainment, or made any unlawful expenditures relating to political activity to government officials 
or others or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds in violation of Section 30A of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended. Neither any Dagger Company nor any current director, officer, agent, employee or other Person acting on behalf of 
any Dagger Company, has, in the conduct of the Business, accepted or received any unlawful contributions, payments, gifts or 
expenditures. 

A22 Government Contracts 

  
A22.1 Generally . Each Dagger Material Contract, and to the Knowledge of Arrow each other Dagger Engagement, that is a 

Government Contract (each an “ Active Government Contract ”) is listed on Schedule 2.1.1 and identified as a Government 
Contract. Each Dagger Completed Engagement that is or was a 



Government Contract is referred to herein as a “ Completed Government Contract .” Also listed on Schedule 2.1.1 and 
identified as a Government Bid is each outstanding quotation, bid or proposal for a Government Contract involving the 
Business. Listed on Schedule A22.1 is each Active Government Contract under which to the Knowledge of Arrow, any 
Dagger Company currently is experiencing, or is likely to experience, material cost, schedule, technical or quality problems.  

   

   

  

A22.2 Bids and Awards . To the Knowledge of Arrow, (i)each Active Government Contract and each Completed Government 
Contract (collectively, the “ Dagger Government Contracts ”) was legally awarded, (ii)no such Active Government Contract 
(or, where applicable, the prime contract with the United States Government under which such Government Contract was 
awarded) is the subject of bid or award protest proceedings, and (iii)no such Active Dagger Government Contract (or, where 
applicable, the prime contracts with the United States Government under which such Government Contract was awarded) is 
reasonably likely to become the subject of bid or award protest proceedings. To the Knowledge of Arrow, no facts exist which 
could give rise to a material claim for price adjustment under the Truth in Negotiations Act or to any other request for a 
material reduction in the price of any Dagger Government Contracts. 

  

A22.3 Compliance with Law and Regulation and Contractual Terms; Inspection and Certification . Each Dagger Company 
has complied in all material respects with all statutory and regulatory requirements pertaining to the Dagger Government 
Contracts to which it is a party, including the Armed Services Procurement Act, the Federal Procurement and Administrative 
Services Act, the Federal Acquisition Regulation (the “ FAR ”), the FAR cost principles and the Cost Accounting Standards. 
To the Knowledge of Arrow, each Dagger Company has complied in all material respects with all terms and conditions, 
including (but not limited to) all clauses, provisions, specifications, and quality assurance, testing and inspection requirements 
of the Dagger Government Contracts, whether incorporated expressly, by reference or by operation of law. To the Knowledge 
of Arrow, all facts set forth in or acknowledged by any representations, certifications or disclosure statements made or 
submitted by or on behalf of any Dagger Company in connection with any Dagger Government Contracts and its quotations, 
bids and proposals for Government Contracts were current, accurate and complete in all material respects as of the date of 
their submission. To the Knowledge of Arrow, each Dagger Company has complied in all material respects with all applicable 
representations, certifications and disclosure requirements under all Dagger Government Contracts and each of its quotations, 
bids and proposals for Government Contracts. Each Dagger Company has developed and implemented a government 
contracts compliance program which includes 



corporate policies and procedures to ensure compliance with applicable government procurement statutes, regulations and 
contract requirements. To the Knowledge of Arrow, no facts exist which could reasonably be expected to give rise to liability 
to any Dagger Company under the False Claims Act which would reasonably be expected to result in a material Dagger 
Obligation. Except as described in Schedule A22.3 , no Dagger Company has undergone or is undergoing any audit, review, 
inspection, investigation, survey or examination of records relating to any Dagger Government Contract (where such audit is 
either outside the ordinary course of business or would reasonably be expected to result in a material Dagger Obligation). No 
audit, review, inspection, investigation, survey or examination of records described in Schedule A22.3 has revealed any fact, 
occurrence or practice which could affect the assets, business or financial statements of any Dagger Company or any Dagger 
Company’s continued eligibility to receive and perform Government Contracts. To the Knowledge of Arrow, no Dagger 
Company has made any payment, directly or indirectly, to any Person in violation of applicable laws, including (but not 
limited to) laws relating to bribes, gratuities, kickbacks, lobbying expenditures, political contributions and contingent fee 
payments. To the Knowledge of Arrow, each Dagger Company has complied in all material respects with all applicable 
requirements under each Dagger Government Contract relating to the safeguarding of and access to classified information. 
Each Dagger Company’s cost accounting, purchasing, inventory and quality control systems are in material compliance with 
all applicable government procurement statutes and regulations and with the requirements of the Dagger Government 
Contracts (or any of them).  

   

  

A22.4 Disputes, Claims and Litigation . Except as described in Schedule A22.4 , to the Knowledge of Arrow, there are neither any 
outstanding material claims or disputes against any Dagger Company relating to any Dagger Government Contract nor any 
facts or allegations that could give rise to such a claim or dispute in the future. Except as described in Schedule A22.4 , to the 
Knowledge of Arrow, there are neither any outstanding material claims or disputes relating to any Dagger Government 
Contract which, if resolved unfavorably to a Dagger Company, would materially increase such Dagger Company’s cost to 
complete performance of such Government Contract above the amounts set forth in the estimates to complete previously 
prepared by Arrow and delivered to Acquisition Sub for each Dagger Government Contract, nor, to the Knowledge of Arrow, 
any reasonably foreseeable expenditures which would materially increase the cost to complete performance of any Dagger 
Government Contract above the amounts set forth in the estimates to complete described above. No Dagger Company has 
been or is now under any administrative, civil or criminal investigation or indictment disclosed to Arrow involving alleged 
false statements, false claims or other misconduct relating to any Dagger Government Contract or 



quotations, bids and proposals for Government Contracts, and to the Knowledge of Arrow, there is no basis for any such 
investigation or indictment. No Dagger Company has been or is now a party to any administrative or civil litigation involving 
alleged false statements, false claims or other misconduct relating to any Dagger Government Contract or quotations, bids and 
proposals for Government Contracts, and to the Knowledge of Arrow, there is no basis for any such proceeding. Except as 
described in Schedule A22.4 , neither the United States Government nor any prime contractor or higher-tier subcontractor 
under a Government Contract has withheld or set off, or attempted to withhold (other than the hold-backs pursuant to 
contracts in the ordinary course of business), or set off, material amounts of money otherwise acknowledged to be due to any 
Dagger Company under Dagger Government Contract. Except as described in Schedule A22.4 , neither the United States 
Government nor any prime contractor or higher-tier subcontractor under an outstanding Government Contract has questioned 
or disallowed any material costs claimed by any Dagger Company under any Dagger Government Contract, and to the 
Knowledge of Arrow, there is no fact or occurrence that could be a basis for disallowing any such costs.  

   

   

  

A22.5 Sanctions . To the Knowledge of Arrow, neither the United States Government nor any prime contractor or higher-tier 
subcontractor under a Government Contract nor any other Person has notified any Dagger Company, in writing, of any actual 
or alleged violation or breach of any statute, regulation, representation, certification, disclosure obligation, contract term, 
condition, clause, provision or specification except where such violation or breach would reasonably be expected to be 
immaterial. No Dagger Company has received any show cause, cure, deficiency, default or similar notices relating to any 
Dagger Government Contract except where such violation or breach would reasonably be expected to be immaterial. No 
Dagger Company or any director, officer, employee, consultant or Affiliate thereof has been or is not now suspended, 
debarred, or proposed for suspension or debarment from government contracting, and to the Knowledge of Arrow, no facts 
exist which could cause or give rise to such suspension or debarment, or proposed suspension or debarment. No determination 
of non-responsibility has ever been issued against any Dagger Company with respect to any quotation, bid or proposal for a 
Government Contract. 

  

A22.6 Terminations . Except as described in Schedule A22.6 , no Government Contract of any Dagger Company relating to the 
Business has been terminated for default within 24 months prior to the date of this Agreement. Except as described in 
Schedule A22.6 , no Dagger Company has received any notice in writing, terminating or indicating an intent to terminate any 
Active Government Contract for convenience. 



   

  

A22.7 Assignments . Except as described in Schedule A22.7 , no Dagger Company has made any assignment of any Dagger 
Government Contract or of any interest in any Dagger Government Contract to any Person other than one of the Dagger 
Companies. Except as described in Schedule A22.7 , no Dagger Company has entered into no financing arrangements with 
respect to the performance of any Dagger Government Contract. 

   

   
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]  

  
A22.8 Property . Arrow is in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements with respect to the possession and 

maintenance of all government furnished property (as defined in the FAR), and to the Knowledge of Arrow, the 
Dagger Subsidiaries are in compliance with such Legal Requirements. 

A23 Additional Liabilities . None of Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub or any of their respective Affiliates, directors, officers or employees 
as a consequence of the terms of this Agreement or the occurrence of the Transaction shall become subject to any obligation other than 
the Dagger Obligations and the other obligations explicitly described in this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements. 



Appendix B  
   

   

B1 Corporate Status of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub . Each of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub is a corporation duly 
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with the requisite corporate power to own, 
operate and lease its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted. 

   
B2 Authority for Agreement; Noncontravention 

   

  

B2.1 Authority . Each of Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub has the corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement 
and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by the boards of directors of 
Parent, Federal and Acquisition Sub and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub are 
necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
hereby. This Agreement and the other agreements contemplated hereby to be signed by Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub 
have been duly executed and delivered by Parent, Federal and/or Acquisition Sub, as the case may be, and constitute valid and 
binding obligations of Parent, Federal and/or Acquisition Sub, as the case may be, enforceable against Parent, Federal and/or 
Acquisition Sub in accordance with their terms, subject to the qualifications that enforcement of the rights and remedies 
created hereby and thereby are subject to (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and 
other laws of general application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors, (b) general principles of equity (regardless of 
whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and (c) the availability of specific performance or 
other equitable or legal remedies specified herein. 

  

B2.2 No Conflict . Neither execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub, nor the performance 
by Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub of its obligations hereunder, nor the consummation by Parent, Federal or Acquisition 
Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby will (a) conflict with or result in a violation of any provision of the Certificate of 
Incorporation or by-laws of Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub, or (b) with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time, 
or both, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or constitute a default under, or result in any right to accelerate or 
result in the creation of any lien, charge or encumbrance pursuant to, or right of termination under, any provision of any note, 
mortgage, indenture, lease, instrument or other agreement, Permit, concession, grant, franchise, license, judgment, order, 
decree, statute, ordinance, rule or regulation to which Parent, Federal, Acquisition Sub or any of Parent’s other Subsidiaries is 
a party or by which any of them or any of their assets or properties is bound or which is applicable to any of them or any of 
their assets or properties. Except for filings that may be required under the HSR Act, no authorization, consent or approval of, 
or filing with or notice to, any Governmental Entity is necessary for the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent, 
Federal or Acquisition Sub or the consummation by Parent, Federal or Acquisition Sub of the transactions contemplated 
hereby, except for such consents, authorizations, filings, approvals and registrations which if not obtained or made would not, 
individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Transaction by Parent, Federal or 
Acquisition Sub. 
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B3 Financing . Parent has entered into a $350,000,000 term loan and a $200,000,000 revolving credit facility to permit 

Acquisition Sub to consummate the Transaction. 
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A10.1    Employee Benefit Plans - List of Plans/Plan Determinations 

A10.4(a)    Employee Benefit Plans - Dagger Subsidiaries’  Plans - List of Plans 

A10.4(b)    Employee Benefit Plans - Dagger Subsidiaries’  Plans - Multiemployer Plans 

A10.4(d)    Employee Benefit Plans - Dagger Subsidiaries’  Plans - Acceleration of Rights 

A10.4(h)    Employee Benefit Plans - Dagger Subsidiaries’  Plans - Retiree Benefits 

A11.1    Employment-Related Matters - Labor Relations 

A12.1    Environmental - Environmental Laws 

A12.2    Environmental - Environmental Claims 

A12.3    Environmental - No Basis for Claims 

A13    No Undisclosed Broker’s or Finder’s Fee 

A14.1    Assets Other Than Real Property - Title 

A14.2    Assets Other Than Real Property - Accounts Receivable 

A15.2    Real Property - Dagger Leases 

A16.1    Agreements, Contracts and Commitments - Dagger Agreements 

A16.2    Agreements, Contracts and Commitments - Validity 

A17    Employee Agreements 

A19    Banking Relationships 

A20    Absence of Certain Relationships 

A22.1    Government Contracts - Generally 

A22.3 
   

Government Contracts - Compliance with Law and Regulation and Contractual Terms; Inspection and 
Certification 

A22.4    Government Contracts - Disputes, Claims and Litigation 

A22.6    Government Contracts - Terminations 

A22.7    Government Contracts - Assignments 

5.1    Conduct of Business of Arrow 

6.7.1    Tax Matters - Allocation of Purchase Price 


